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Hircomi Hata
Kodo Kameyama Mura

Asagun Hirosghima,Japan
WAYNE M, COLLINS

Attorney-at-Law
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH S8T.
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 11 January 1949

Dear. 8ir;

I would like to introduce myself to you by letter and
hope you will accept this. I have renunced my U.,S. nationality
during World War II by coerclon. I would like to know if you
will file my case in American Federal Court for the purpuse of
reviving U.S. Citizenship.

I have already seen your 1mformation and details concerning
to such strandees which you had send to one of the renuncee last
~year here in Japan and that will eliminate your trouble of sending
answer back to me. :

I will also enclose a sheet which concerned to my birth.
If any action be taken by your office, will be greatly aporeciate
by,

Yours Truly,

v




- PERSONAL IMFORMATION

Name. Hiromi Hata'
Date of birth, 23 January 1917

Place of Birth. El1 Monte, California.
Father name. Goroku Hata

Mother name. Shizuyo Hata

Jlitonn’ P




WAYRE M. COLLIHS
Attorney at Law
Hills Tower, 220 Bush Street
fan ¥renelesce &, Califorails

January 21, 1949

Mr. Hiromi Hata

¢/o Mr. Owen J. Sammons

Flight Section 5th A, F.

APO 710 e¢/o P.M. ‘
San Francisco, Calif. i

Dear Mr. Hata:

I am not positive that sdditional lee oan be Joined
to the renunciation guses inmsmuch as hé interlocutory Jud
ment was signed by the Judge and filed on September 27, 19&8:

However, before that Judgment becomes final about the
first of Pebrusry, 1949, it may be possidble te Join sdditional
gornont if the government does not objeet thersto. Yoneequently

shall include your nsme in s subsequent motion to be made to
the court for inolusion. I will need to have the fellowing in-

formation IMKEDIATELY,

1. #all neme, including middle neme (also saiden name,
AT merried woman).

2. Date of birth.

3. Flace of birth.

4. Flace and approximete time of renuncietion.

. P inder which you 3 _ your eitisz 37]

€. whether or not you riﬁolvud & letter from the Attornsy

General roving your renuncistion. If you have such
2 letter your possession, plesse forwsrd 1% to me

Yery truly yours,




Hiromi Hata -
c¢/o Mr. Owen J. Sammons
Flight Section 5th A.F.
APQ 710 c¢/o Pogtmagter
San Francisco, California,

WAYNE M, COLLINS

Attorney-at-law

Mills Tower,, 220 Bush 3treet

gan Francisco 4, California 15 February 1949

Dear. 8ir;

. I have Juet received your letter, dated January 21, 1949,
agking for my full imformatlon in regards to my personal higt-
JOPY . I am also glad to hear that you have devoted your full
time battleling the ease out for all former nigsel 1n States and
Japan, and also appreciate your present continuating efforts
and hope your success.

m
he fe}}pwigg\\s for JOUP imformation

% Hiromi (_EOI}':"Q) Hata i \ ) D o VU Y T’
\T’T?ét“name%{ﬁid&}ewname+(ba@%wnamr)

2 January 25, 1917

(Date of birth)

El Monte, California.
(Place of birth)

7 |

Tule Lake Center, Summer 1944 (Don't remember the mon. )
(Place and approximate time of renunciation)

Hiroml Hata
- (Name under which you renounced your citizenship)

This item 1s under my doubt and I don't beleive I've
ever received any.

Bbove 1tem ig filled by best of my knowledge and correct.

Very truly yours,

ik
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Please read this questicnnaire carefully and then print, type or write

PERSONAL QUEST IONNAIRE

your an gwers legibly to the followlng questlons.

a, State your full name. M‘@%M

b. Male? /Female? ___ Maiden Name?

¢, Birth place? M B:Lrth date? %‘73/9/ 7k
d. Have you ever renounced Japanese N tionalltw

Where?

Have you ever visitéd Japan? : When? /928 ——— /237
) -
wlgeAy S

Did you attend school in Japan?

How long? Z% What Schools? [ geptitasstd’ 7
Period of attendance: M—-/]ﬂ" L CAt

S06 74:5/ (77 (Sesyec) WK?‘”—-—/??

Thrtrd (5 Cous 4T arkls INARY O N
% Ll eyt PRELIMINARY QUESTIONS

Where did you live before evacuat ion? Mé%@@

What was your occupation before evacuation?

" Who, if anyone,
at the time you
Where did your father and mother reside at the time of evacuation? ___ ‘

Were Tthey aliens?

What were their ages at the time of evacuatlon?m "mm

Were your parents both evacuated also?é@_Was either of them in ill

health while in a WRA Center? %,Was elther of them hospitallzed

while in a WRA Center? __2Zep  If so, when and in what Center?

Were you or any other membets of your family iIn 11l health while in a

WRA Center? s sos—state who was, and, if hospitalizZed, state

when, for what period of tirne, and in what Center? Z{M_l




2

Is your spouse (wife ew—husband)»a U. S. citizen, a renunciant or an

What members of your family were evac 2t od W{{; you? (Wife, husband,

children, father, mother, brothers, sisters, father-in-law, mother=-in-

State what members of your family (spouse, mother, father, brothers,

sisters, children, father-in-law or mother=-in=law) were in Japan during

tne war? ____enZss  fiteunky //

Who of them, if any, were U. S. cibtizens? mmm;égggggggg;r

Did any of them serve in the Japanese armed forces?

State what members, if any, of your spouse's family (your father-in-law,
mother-in-law, sisters-in-law, brothers-in=law, or gtop-children) were in

Japan during the war and whether thry are U. 8. citizens or Japanese

aliensg?

Did you suffer any property losses by reason of your svawatlon‘?%Did

you 116 a c¢lai tiFijfzdzz.los es you suffered by reason pf your
(3 7 mount 1le you clalm‘? _
§et§le ent” of your }J i3 Dld your

any prroperty losses by reason of evacuat ion? If so,

amount did they file claims? What amount did they

receive in settlement of their claimg?

State whether your husband, father or any other member of your family was

Interned as an alien enemy after the outbreak of war in an Allen Enemy

Internment Camp, for removal to Japan, and, if so, in what camp?

(M’y\é-"‘i
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When anc where were you reunited with such member of your family?

Did you apply for "short term", "seasonal work", "indefinite leave",

"student's leave" or "relocation" while you wers in a WRA CenterM

When did you make that application? %«L—W
In what camp were you at that tlmmmw

b

Were you denied leave? __ By whom?

What reasons were given to you for denying your applicat ion?

Did you go out for seasonal work or on any leave clearancew.en angd,

where did you go and for what period of time?

What type of work did you do?

Did you experience any discrimination or persecution while on leave?

If so, state the exparience.

- S oE TR

To what Center did you return?

State the names of any members of your family or any of your friends who

went out on leave or relocation and experienced discriminat ion or perse-

cut ion, _ 2t L -

What happened to them?

When did the occurences take place? 4 _ Month

Where did they happen?

From whom or what sources did you hear or learn those things?
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4 4
Did you Imow or lesrn of any other persons on leave having been subjected ’

to discrimination or persecution? ____ What were their names?

What happened to them?

When and where did the occurrences take place? b

Re: APPLICATIQONS FOR REPATRIATION

To what Assembly Center were you evacuated? w
bote- oyl o joia
To what WRA Center were you next transferred? I Zé m

In what Block did you live there?

e

With whom did you share quarters there?

In what Camp were you when yotj applied for repatriation to Japan?

Did you make that application before or after you answerel the Army

Quest ionnaire in February or March, 19439 %

When 4id you make that application?

s

Did you personally make that application? If not, who d&id?
S s

\ o

Did any of the following persons also make\épﬁicat ilons for repatriation
to Japan? Your husband? Wife? father? mother?%
brothers? sistersj% father-in-law? mother=-in=law?

brotherg=in~law? gisters~in~law? When and in what Center were

Japan?__~2€¢2; that it intended to deport all Kibei to Japan? ~#€& that

it intended to deport all Nisei to Japan?

=]

Did you make more than one application for repatristion to Japan, and, if

50, when and where did you do so? m@.@a%
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What members of your family pressured you into applying for repatriat ion

so sevent . 2udll s bl sisslil 4 epulualonn bt ants

What did tyey say to you to get you to apply for repatrlat10n°nﬂwnnaolzﬁéLd¢L‘
 Le

»

Did anyone else, not a member of yo ¥ family, pressure you into applying
for repatriation to Japan? ég;ggg“ Name the persons who did and state

whether they were Iscel, Kibel, or Nisei, and blocks where they lived.

‘!i iil’ -

dé?s Sr me b,pe of any organization state the

7
What 4id those persons tell you to get you to apply for repatriatio%§";¢¢4¢

concbrlef B

P oy owes 00 Alaltanf
Wére you fearful that Ay you did not g y for repatrilationyou would be
separated from your husband? wife? children?® motherzﬁgg%z

father? £ brothers? _ sistery?'é%Z‘;or other persons? _
Were those persons in the same Center with you at the time you applied for
repatriation? If any of them were not, state who was not and where

they were at the time. _

e

Did you believe that I1f you dldn't apply for repatriation to Japan that

sooner or later you would be forced tg, relogate in the U. S.7 3 In an
p

Zr ot el &) ncar ilalbbd
area hoshile to Japanese?;%%fzgtﬂuw yoy might be drafted into the armed
.Aua‘e,/%LéZZZI xﬂ£4£;~4! é&z&&i/E%Zuaeca;;z aléa?uL SRe areen__

forcesgdggg:; That you would be separdted from alled member f your
family you believed would be deported to Japen? 2242

Did you make application for repatriation because you belleved ths Govern-
ment had no use for you and intended to deport you %o Japan because you
were Kibel? 2e¢f; of that it intended %o deport you to Japan because your
parents were there?c%gggp or becauge your parents were aliens here and

that it intended to deport them on an exchange ship to Japan simply because

they were aliens? ~2EA and that they wanted you to be with them and not




be separated from them?‘ézhgo

Re: QUESTIONS 27 AND 28
In what WEA Center were you at the time you answered the Army Question-
naire containing Questions Nos., 27 and 28%

In what Block were you living in that Center at t

Was the Questionnaire you answered the Army Quest ionnaire or the WRA

Application for Leave Clearance, if you remember?

sts i

Did you give a negative answer to Question.No, 27?152535 to Question No,

ZSEA%;ng Did you refuse to answer Question No, 27% ; Question No.

287 VLV ﬁ/ﬁmmwm
> ale/ i, Gy T
Did any members of yo family pressure Yy or threaten’you into giving a

"No" answer to Questiona Nos, 27 and 28 or into refusing to answer those

quest long 2-Zgep Llho wore the family members who did this?

What did they say to you to get you to answer "No" to those questions or

~to refuse to answer those questions?

Did you give a "No" answer to those questions or refuse to answer them
Dagcause your fatherf? . . motHer? - ‘Drothersy . slsteps? " . "ob
other family members? ____ were in Japan at the time and you feared they
might get in trouble with the Japanese government if you were silling to
serve in the U. S. Army? ____ or were willing to swear alleglance to the
U.:S.2 . /.Did you giva "No' answers to those questions or refuse to
answer them because your father? ____ mother? __ __ brothers? ____ sisters?
or other family members? _____ were in the U. S. but you believed they
were to. be deported to Japan and that they would get in trouble with the
Japsnese Government when they arrived there if you had answered "Yes" to
those questions? ____ . Did you give a "No" answer to those questions
because you believed that eventually you would be deported to Japan and

i

you feared that if you gave a "Yes" answer to those questions you would

get In trouble with the Japanese Government when you arrived in Japan?

.
g

Did any other persons pressure or threaten you into giving "No" answers




to those questions or imco refusing to enswer those questians?€;2§;? What
are the names of those persons and state whether they were Issel, Kibel,
or Nisei and the Blocks in which they lived and the organization, 1f any,
fo] ~ 2%
of which they were meubers? 2 ¢
, A b
/ i it
What 4id those persons say to you to. get you to give "No answers to

those questions or to refuse to answer those questions? &d%«%

’ﬁﬁg /7442‘:zzg;zdéﬁééy4¢¢4444 4&(’22%t37!i«£]5¥4,a&oqﬂ’4:? »
Wl{t{zc{you fear would Za;%gn to you if you didn“c‘évve No" answers tg

those gquestions or you didn't refuse to answer them?

4
s AR L e LT AL ; A Al SR

T - o ) e i

What /d43 you I'ea otild happen %o other members of your éamiiy if you

didn't give "No" answers to those questions or you did not refuse to

answer them? 3

34, gid you équse to answer thosgﬁquestions because you already had applied

for repatristion to Japan and you understood that if you already had

applied for repatriation you did not have to answer those questions%qgéz .
Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to answer them
because you resented being evacuated, confied to a WRA Center and treated
like an alien? e %

Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to answer them
because you already had apprlied for repatriation and believed that iIf you
gsve "Yes" answers your application for repatriation would be cancelled
and you might be drafted into the armed forces? ____; or be forcibly re-
located in the U, S. while the war still was going 6n?_g=q=. Did you
fear that if you were to be drafted you would be discriminated against
and be pergecuted 1n the armed forces? _ . Dld you fear that if you
were drafted? ____ or relocated? _____ you would be permanently separated
from members of your family ﬁho were to be repatriated to Japan? ____ ;

from what family members did you fear to be separated?

Did anyone else, noi a member of your family, pressure or threaten you

& $i o t ot o - g
into giving "No" answers to those quest10ns?§é§g§xuhgg_ﬂ§re thelr names

and state whether they were Issei, XKibel or Nisei and the names of the




8

organizations to which they belonged?

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those guestions that you

would have to stay in camp and be separated from your parents or other
LTamily members who were to be deported to Japan because they were aliens
or because they had asked to be sent to Japan and you did not want to be

separated from them? From what parent or family members did you fear

separat ion?

Dic you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions you eventu~-

ally would have to relocate in this country during the war and would be

in danger from hostile Caucasians? ____‘gaggg.

Who told you that this might happen to you?

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those guestions that it

would mean you might be drafted into military service where you would be
discriminated against or be persecuted by fellow soldiers or that you
might be used as cannon fodder just because you had Japanese anCestrxggzgg
Who told you that this might happen to you? 24,

Did you fear thst if you gave "Yes" answers to those §Uest Lont

riight be attacked and harmed by groups of Issel, Kibel or Nisei in camp?

¢?5ggg.Name the group and 1ts leaders or members from whom you feared this

danger?

Did you give "No" answers to those questions as a protest against the mis-

treatment of evacuation and confinement to a camp?‘%ggg‘_

Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend or anyone else ab-
tacked by members of the pressure groups in that Center for showing loyal-
ty to the U, S.%2 » or opposition t6 the pressure groups? égZé(or for

giving "Yes" answers to Questions Nos. 27 and dB? If so, state the

names of the persons who were attacked, _Z{@%# Z%

When were they attacked? < 5;7_ By whom were they attacked?;zzéggggsgé7




)7

Did you then belisve that if you gave a "No" answer to those questions
that you would be allowed to stay in the Center for the duration of the

war and in this way you and your family would be free Ifrom danger of per=

secut ion by Cauoasians?4;26(VWw told you this? : LU ng |

w_4é/e”“’47?°¢—ﬂﬁ&§é§g;téuq;4Z~‘~q @erilitiiig Mo L 4pa4&JQL(<ﬁL.4ﬁ::Z:;
o / ( / 4
Did you give "No" answers to Quéstion Nos, 27 and 28 or refuse to answer
those questions because you had been Informed by the WRA or understood
that because you already had applied for repatriation to Japan that you

did not have to answer those questions? . Who told you this?

Did you uver give a "Yos" answer to Question No. 277 2¢p; to Question
No., 28% 2¢#; Did you change your answer to Quest lon No, 27 or 28 %o * No"
at any t ime? é%3£? Pid you change your answer to Questions Nos. 27 and 28
to "No" or refuse to give "Yes" answers to those questlons by July 31,
1943 because you knew that “No" answers or a refusal to answer those
quest ions would mean that you would be sent to Tule Lake or be segregated

there with alien members of your family from whom you did not want to be

a‘ﬁ”.

separated? ?éﬂ &/W% sz W

Jllrrv el 2
When and/where 4id you #irst register £ the draft?

(17 Glwdnl,, Gl . J2¥ 2320

What ‘classification did you flrst ggceive? ) é jﬁ&;;; Did you ever re-
ceive a 4-C (alien enemy) classificatioqjj;ézg?ﬁ en did you receive that

4-C clgssification?

In what Center wers you when you recalvec 1t% m;zgz&is;ﬂzgﬁégégg;F
Did you receive that 4-C clagsification before you a wered the Army

Quest ionnaire in February or March of 1943 while you were in a WRA Center

or did you receivs it afterwsard?

While you were in any WRA Center did you sign a petitlon addressed to the
Attorney General, the President, the Army, the WRA or other governmental
agency or agent stating in substance that if you were freed and returned

to your home you would fight for the U. 8. and give your life if neces~

sary for this country? . In what Center were you at the time?
T B === = il

Did you sign such a petition before you answered the Army Quest lonnaire

in February or March, 1943 or afterward? ____ Did you sign.such a
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pet it lon before you made a request for repatriation to Japan or afterward?
When were your parents first placed on the free ligt or notified

that they could be relocated?

Were any other members of your family placed on the WRA free list for rew

locat 1on purposes and, if so, who were they and when were they placed on

the free list?

Would you have been willing to swear unqualified allegiance to the U. S.
while you were in a WRA Center if the Government had allowed you to re=
turn to your home as a free citizen31azgg.Would you have been willing to
return to your home alone}-Z¢¢; without the citizen members of your
femily likewise being freed from detent lon? Zgg’ without the alien
members of your family also being freed? o2¢¢. Would you have been will-
ing only if the Government would assure you that you would be relocated
safe from harm from Caucasians2dgzz‘; that the citlzen members of your
family would be relocated safe from harm?% and that the alien members
of your family willing to return to thelr homes during the war if the
Government would allow them11$z§: Were they willing to be relocated else-
where in the U. S.? Z@.

Did you keep in touch with your Local Draft Board while you were in =z WRA
Centerzégggg~ Did you report to your Draft Board after you were released
from camp? ____ . To what Draft Board?

When? After your release from camp did you volunteer

for service in our armed forces? .Dld you ever served armed

forces? . VWhen _ 5 Into what bra nch?

; what period of time did you serve? 5

where did you serve 2__ ;s what was your socilal

number ? . Have you received an Honorable discharge

from such service? 5 what is the date of that Discharge?

Re: MEMBERSHIP IN ORGANIZAT IONS

50, (a) Did you ever sign a petition for resegregation (Saikakurl Seigan)

while in Tule Lake? —C2e7. When? w/?ﬁ/}/

P d
(b) Were you at any time a member of (1) Sokoku Kenkyukai? s S G

(2) Sokoku Kenkyo Seinen Dan? (3) Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi Dan?

e e o
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Seinen Dan? %gkgg: (5) Hokoku Joshi Selnen

When did you stop bein
(uxx/b

In what quck d you liv me ,49 became = wember? g!//

/MM.Z% =

WHat was the name of your Black #lanager?

With whom did you share living guarters at the Tule Lake Center?

M)M
organizat ions were active In that Bl°°k?:242255‘2;12534455f'

was the full name of the organization you joined?

e ]

were the names of the leaders of the organizations in your Block?

A =
Were your father? or mother%‘iszz or brothers? or sisters?y,

or father-in-law? or mother-in-law? ___ a member of any organizaw=

t ion? Did they persuade you to become a member? ~Ze¢VWhat did they

say to you to persuade you to become a member?

What other members of your family were members of the Hoshi Dan?

Joshi Dan?

Seinen Dan? _

e

Why did they become members?

In what Blocks were they living?

What are the names of the persons other than members of your family who
persuaded or threatened you into becoming a member and state whether such

persons were Issei, Kibel or Nisel and gstate the Blocks in which they

What did they say would happgen to you if $ou did not become a member?

Velopl 1ol o m/zz;wfnzcwé e, 2
dld you be%leﬁe w;ald happen to you if you did not become a member?
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Wihat office, If any, did you hold in the organization?

mm

What duties did you perform?

What dutles 4id you perform as an officer? =~ L5 R

As a member did you attend any morning calisthenic exercisWPproxi-

mately how often did you join in the calisthenics? ___ Sz @@:___

Did you attend any of the organization's lectures? zes? Approximately how

many lectures did you attend? What was the nature of those lectures?

Did you participate in any of their merching demonstrat ions,@ If so,

how many? WMWM —ece AM
Did you attend any other meetings of %ﬁe organfzatloWe.and, how

often?

Did you tell anyone you wanted to drop membership?ég State the names

of the persons you told you wanted to drop membership.-

Did anybody warn you that you could not withdraw from membership?%

Who gave you such a warning? (State their names, blocks, where they lived

and whether Issei, Kibei or leem ’M?f M
What did they tell you would happen if you dropped your membership or

tried to drop membershlp‘? ’& L/“"ﬁ_"‘m W
Loed MW M

v Pt a.u/'-
Had %0 .Learne one ried to drop membershlp had been

threatened or had been beaten up for trying to drop membership?/ﬁm
if you know, was beaten for trying to do 1t‘7

What group dig you hear was responsible for beating persons who tried to

withdraw from membership?

R T T R AR M e A L TR
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Were you in fear that you would be attacked and beaten up by members <%

What groups did you fear might do

Were you told that If you tried to drop membership the organization
would report this matter to the Japanese Government and that when jyou
were deported to Japan you weould get im treuble with the Japanese Govern=-

ment ? Affp Who told you this? : —

Did you fear that if you dropped membership you would get In trouble with

the Japanese Government when you were deported to Japan? é%agg;,

Were you told that if you thGd to drop membership the organization lead-
ers would report thig matter to the Japasnese Government and that your
alien parents would get in trouble with the Japanese Government when they
were sent to Japan for not being able to control your actionsz4%ig;,Who

told you this? (State the names, blocks where they lived and whether

Issel, Kibel or Nisel) _ _2gemtl — .

Did you fear tHat 1f you dropped membership your parents who were to be
sent to Japan would get in trouble there9<g§ggr

Did you have your hair cut short or shavedﬁﬁ&%%é;%hen9 . Who

dida it?

if so, what insignia?

If you or any member of your family was placed in the "Stockade" at Tule

Lake Center state who was, for what period of time and for what reason

4/<214z22$z=m£a;a

What was the nature of your employment and where did you work while you

were in Tule Lake?

ou gere a

member of any orgenization at Tule? 2¢¢) In what block? What were

the namos of some of your fellow workers? @MW
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Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend attacked by any

members of any of the pressure groups at Tule Lake? ¢ Who was? ___

%/4./,4 WMM) 2
tvanilu, K tacpe M/Za?'z«./v
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Re: EEQUESTS FOR FORMS UPON WHICH

TQ RENCUNCE C IT IZENSHIP

ol ;

In what Block did you live in the Tule Lake Center? gfg/

B ]

When did you send a letter to the Attorney General or the Jugtice

Department asking for forms upon which to renounce your cdti Hnship?

it emm h%s forms? /W When?

In what Center were you at that time? e

Number ¢ {22/‘

(Note: On December 19, 1944, General Pratt removed the ban on the
return of Japanese to the West Coast, On December 21, 1944, the

Newe.l Star, the Tule Lake Center newspaper, announced that all the
WRA camps would be clogsed in about one year, Notices of this alsc
may have been posted in the block manager's offices, the mess halls
and other places in camp.

Therefore, if you sent a letter to the Attorney General or the
Justice Department before December 21, 1944, asking for forms upcn
which to renounce citizenship you probably were not then in fear of
the camp being closed and of being forced to relocate in a hostile
area without funds or a home to which you could go. If you semé such
a letter between December 21, 1944 and January 29, 1945, you probab=
1y were in fear of being relocated 1n such circumstances. On Januery
29, 1945, the WRA announced that Tule Lake would be kept open and
that there would not be any forced relocations, If you sent your
letter after January 29, 1945, the Justice Department will be incline-
gd to believe you were not then in actual fear of being forcibly re-
located in a hostile area without funds or a home to which you could
go unless you convince it that you 4id not believe the January 29,
1945, announcement that the Tule Lake Certer would. be kept open and
that no one would be forced to relocate,) '

Did you send that letter to the Attorney General or touthe Just ice Depart:-
ment before that December 21, 1944 announcement that all the WRA Centers
would De closed within a year?(égggg. Did you send it between December
21, 1944 and January 29, 19457 20,

Did you send it after the announcement of January 2 9, 1945, that the
Tule Lake Center would be kept open? _____ .

If you sent in your letter to the Justice Department after the WRA's an-
nouncement of January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center would be kept
open end that there would not be any forcible relocations you probably
did not send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce your
citizenship by reason of fear that the Tule Lake Center would be closed
and that you eand your family would be forced to relocate and therefore,

you should answer the following questions:

(a) From what source did you learn about that announcement of January 29,
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1945: In the Newell | 3 from a notice on a bulletin board? _

from the Block Managser? _s from what other persons?

=R D i

(b) Did you belisve the announcement? _____ . If not, state why you did

not believe the announcement,

e

{c) Did anyone tell you that you could not trust that announcement? __

If so, stabte who told you not to rely on that announcement and what they

sald to you to make you disbelieve it.

If ‘he announcement of December 21, 1944, that all Centers would be clos=
ed within a year and the announcement of January 29, 1945, that Tule Lake
Center would be keph open and there would not be any forcible relocat ilons
did not have anything to do with your decision to renounce your citizen-
ship did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms
upon which to renounce citizenship because of any of the following fears,
namely: (a) fear of separation from alien members of your family, such
a8 father? = mobher? ==m% father-1in-law? ___ mother=in=law? ___ _ atep
~father? ___ step-mother? ____ other aliens? ____ who you believed were
to be deported to Jespan? ____; (b) fear of being separated from citizen
mombers of your family, such as your wife? ____ husband? ____ children?
who you believed would have to relocate in the U. S.? ____ or who
you believed would bs deported to Japan? ____ 3 (¢) fear of being deported
yourself because you had given negative answers to Quescions Nos, 27 or

28 and were considerad a disloyal person? _ s (d) fear of treat or harm

to yourself? ___ or your wife? _ _ or husband? __ or children?

or mother? ____ or father? .  -oriother members? .. i-of your family from
gangs in the Center? ;3 (e) fear of mistreatment or physical harm from
the Government or its agents? ‘

Did the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all the WRA Centers would

be clossd within a ysear cause you to send that letter to the Justice De=

partment?{gggblﬁd.you read that announcement in the Newell Star? 3

from a bulletin board? 3 or learn about it from the Block Manager?

or from other persons and, if so, name the persons:
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Did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon
which to renounce your citizenship because you feared that December 21,
1944, announcement meant that you and the c¢itizen members of your family
would be forcibly relocated without money, a home or job In an area where
people were hostile to Japansese while the war still was going on unless
you renounced your citizenship?.;agE’Were you afraid of belng relocated
because you had hearc that jobs were scarce?qgﬁgg; that emplyers did not
wish to hire Japanese and that you might not get work to support yourself

and your family?gggigg; that the public was hostile to Japanese and you

feared mob violence? fgiyf. If you had been forcibly relocated what mem-

bers of your family would you then have had to support?

2=
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Had you heard of any relocated persons being discriminated against?j;q;g;
refused work? -~ ; being insulted?<;2g;; being attacke¢%jé;_=; be ing

shot at? »aﬂ”;’;eing persecutegjﬁgagg; whose homes had been burned?jzg;=.

When and where had these incidents taken place?

e foteenrr oo SRR

What were the names of the persons who had been mistreated and state what

it was that happened to them,

Did you send that letter because you belleved that if you sent for the
forms and renounced your citizenship that you would be interned'by the

Justice Department and coulg stay in camp unt il the war ended and then be
safely relocated when public host11ity to Japanese died down?
told you that this could be done? >

Did any members of your family fear or tell you that you would be forcibly

relocated and run the rigk of danger from hostile Caucasians unless you

4 AN anfs mar c = 'l & s
sent that letter and reénounced your ¢civizenship and, if so, what members

of your family told you this? M

(a) State what members of your feamily were in fear of what might happen to

you or to them if you did not send such a letter and, if so, state of

what or of whom they were in fear?
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72, (b) In what Blocks were each of your family members living at that time?

Dld you fear that if you did not send the letter and request forms upon

which to renounce your citizenship that you would be separated from ali-
en members of your family?ééaggg and, If so, from what alien members?
I /
<
or from citizen mmbers? qug;,and if so, from what citizen members of

your family? ,aﬁabiza:ZQ

= TR

Nare the members of your family who told you that you would be separated

from your family if you did not send for the forms and renounce your

citizenship? W

=

Name other persons, not members of your family, who told you that you
would be separated from your family if you d4id not send for the forms and

renounce your citizenship and state whether they were Issei, Kibei or

Nisel and the Blocks where they lived. __Bresseer2 ,

What members of your family (wife, husband, children, father, mother,
brother, sisters, fetherwein-law, mother=in-law) were in the Tule Lake

Center at the time you sent that letter to the Justice Department ?

What members of your family pressured, threatened or persuaded you to

send that letter? __ %

What 1id they fear or sa y to you to get you to send that letter9

M%%QMMWM

ur husband? wife? father? ____ mothe:gj%: brothers?

sisters? In-laws? _____ force you to send a letter requesting
forms on which to renounce your citizenship so that you wouldn't be
separated from them by being forced to relocate while they remained in

camp or finally were deported to Japan? If such person or persons were




citizens of the U. 8. state whether they already had sent for forms

which t o renounce their citizsnship?édzéz4g:&g;W" Al —

What did such persorn or psersong say to you to force you to renounce

»
citizenship? __ 44444@4:'7 .

s S oy ey e =

Did you send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce c it izen-
ghip because you hesrd that alien members of your family who had request=
od repatriation to Japan would have to stay in the Center unt 1l they
could be exchanged or removed to Japan and that you ult imately would have
to be relocated in this country and thus be separated from them unless
you applisd for renunc iat ion? », Name the persons who told you this
might happen if jou didn't renounce your cit izenship and state whether
-they were Issei, Kibeil or Nisel and the Blocks where they lived

e | st r,

What alien menbers of your family already had asked for repatriation to

Japan at the time you sent that letter? ,/jgzé;;52225

[ =
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Were tho alien members of your family on the WRA free list and eligible
to relocate at the time you sent your letter to the Justice Department

asking for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship? et l

e o X = B EeReos

Did you fear that if you didn't send for the forms and didn't renounce

your citizenship that you, nevertheless, would be deported to Jaben along
with the alien members of your family because you had asked for repatria=-
tion to Japan and that you would get iIn trouble with the Japanese govern-
ment when you arrived thcri3<§gég’Name the persons who told you this and

state whether they were Issel, Kibei, Nisel, the Blocks where they lived

and the organizat ions of which they were members,

Did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship
because you believed your 1life was being frittered away uselessly in camp?
'%;iéﬁ that you feared that you might he confined to camp until the war

ended?44;3g7 which might take many yearsa1?ﬁa(or that 1f the war did not

come to an end you would be kept in cemp forever?,;éga(pr that when and
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if the war ended the Government might deport you to Japan2ﬂéﬁgg and that

you want ed to get away from camp lifqzjagg; and feared that you had to go

or be sent somewhere or anywhere, even to Japan, just so long as you were

made a free man?4;2§!.

Did you send a letter to the Justice Department asking for the forms

upon which to renounce because you were afréid that the Government had

no use for you and didn't care what happened to you and that you were

afraid this was true because it had deprived you of citizenship rights

by evacuat ing you and putting you into a WRA Center behind barbed wires

and then had armed troops guard you2 5 and then didn't give you any p

protection In the Tule Lake Center from the threats and violence of gangs?

<%§§2c,and because the police didn't give any proteéction to the residents?
,4%?&5‘ and you were scared by the soldiers moving in and driving the re=

sidents around and searching their quarters? _2Zg¢#3 and no protection was

gilven against such things as the murder of Mr, Hitomi, the knifing of Mr,

Terasawa and others, and the clubbing and beatings of many persons; and

that the Government didn't punish the soldier who shot Mr, Okamotgszggg

and that you thought these things clearly meant the Government had no use
for you and didn't want to gilve you any protection and that, to avoid all
this violence and trouble, you had to renounce citizenship to insure your
own safety? and the safety of your wife? ___ __ , husband? ===;J father?
____, mother? H&pchildren? oI Brathdngt o Gl sisters?/% other
members of your family? _ . ' &
Did you decide to send the letter asking for forms upon which to renounceA
your citizenship because you feared that you were going to be deported to
Japan because you had glven "No" answers to Questions Nos, 27 and 28 or
had refused to answer those questions and were considered diasloyal to the
U. S. and that it was necessary for you to send that letter to the Justice
Department and renounce your citizenship otherwise you would get in

trouble when you arrived in Japapt2gezeAllhat tmouble did you think you
would get into in Japan if you dildn't renounce U, S. citizenship?

State what members of your family told you this,

Name the Issei, Kibel and Nisel who told you this and state in what Blocks




21
they lived at Tule Lake and the name of any organizations to which they

belonged __

Did you fear that if you didn't send for the forms and renounce your
citizenship that you eventually might be drafted into our armed forces
while you were in the Center and thus be separated from your .citizen wife?
5 cltizen chil8ren? ____; or other citizen members of your family?
(%agg who were in the Center?<%§2gﬂ Did you fear that Iif you didn't send
for the forms and renbunce citizenship that you eventually would be re=-
located and then might be drafted into our armed forces and then be sepas

rated from your wife? » children? _» other family memberﬁzﬂgﬁggy

who would have relocated with you? Who told you these things might happen

1f ‘you didn't renocunce your citizenship? N> Y Y P Yy 2

Did you fear that if you didn't send for the forms and renounce your cit i
zenship that you eventually might be drafted into the army while you were
in the Center or after you were forcibly relocated which would result in
separat ing you from allen members of your family who were to be sent to
Japan because they had asked for repatriation to Japan and wanted to g0
therez<gaggcn~kmcause they believed they would be deported to Japan after

the war ended because they feared the Government intended to deprort all

alien Japanese to Japan?<;zgg' Who told you this would happen%

tersco e, .—____

Did your allen parents fear that if you didn't send for the forms and

renounce your citizenship that you eventually might be drafted into the

army and be separated from them when they were sent %o Japangﬁ%;ggb, Did

they tell you this? _ggerName other persons who told you this,
you s oxed ig the armed forces that they

would get in trouble with the Japanese Government when they arrived in

Japan31;§“.. Did they tell you thisﬁﬂgaggn Name other persons who told

you this,

8, Did any person or persons or group of persons tell you or spread the
rumor that 1f you didn't send for the form and renounce your citizenship

you would get into trouble with the Japanese government when you were




deported to Japan?4%%25; Name the persons who told you these things, the

Blocks where they lived and the organizations to which they belonged, and

whether they were Issel, Kibei or Nisei, Zelegsert—r

— s

Name the other members of your family whom you believed would get in

trouble there if you didn't renounce your citizenship and state whether

they were in the Center with you., _ __ . 2ze2e 2 ———

If any members of your family were in Japan at the time, 4id you fear
that they might be punished by the Japanese government if it learned that
you did not renounce your U. S. citlzenship? ZZa& ,What members of your

family there did you fear might get in such trouble?

T

With what agents of Japan did you think you or your family members would

get in trouble 1f you did not renounce your citizenship? _

i s B

(The Japanese police? Fff/Kempeitai? 5 Army? &3 Ngighborhood

Associat ions? «— ;5 other agencies?

What did you fear would happen to you or to them? _

Did you believe that you or they would be put in prison? 3 internment
camg;g?zgg;.be forced to work as slave laborers? ____; or what else did

you fear would happen to you or to them?

If anyone else told you to send that letter, name the persons who did and
state whether they were Issei, Kibel or Niseil and the Blocks in which

they lived or where they worked at Tule Lake Center, and state the names

of the organlizatlons of which they were members., _-2¢£3e2

What did they tell you would happen to you if you didn't send that letter?

T (= S ) = . ——

Were those persons leaders or members of any of the organizations in Tule

Lake, and, if so, state the names of the organizations. ve

RPN e e s e
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Who were the Iseel leaders of those organizations and in what Blocks did

they live?

The Kibel leaders and Blocks where they lived?

The Nlisel leaders and Blocks where they lived?

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan mov=
ed away to Santa Fe before you sent in that letter;<gzggjlf so, what

groups?

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan re-
moved to Santa Fe before you sent in that letter?(égggﬂ\ If so, what

groups?

(Note, The first group of 70 Issei and citizens belonging to the Hokoku
Seinen Dan were taken away to Santa Fe on December 27, 1944, Renunc iat-
lon hearings started on January 11, 1945, The next group of 144 citizens
and 27 allens, includirg 50 officers of the Hokoku Seinen Dan, was taken
to Santa Fe on January 26, 1945, The next group of about 650 members of
the Hokoku Seinen Pan was removed to Bismarck on February 11, 1945, The
next group of 125 persons was taken to Santa Fe on March 12, 1945, About
June, 1945, some 400 more were removed to Santa Fe and in July, 1945, a
fow more were taken to Bismarck, Therefore, if you had your hearing after
these groups had been removed you were not in fear of them at that t e, )
Were you in fear that If you didn't send for the forms and renounce your
citizenship that your name would be put on the organization's black~list

and would be reported to the Japanese government and you would get in

trouble with the Japanese government when you arrived in Japan?® » Who

told you this would hapven? __ __Hegcesterz

.

State whether they were Issel, Kibeil or Nseil, the Blocks where they then

were living and the organization to which belonged.
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Were you in fear of the leaders of any of the organizations at Tulelgz..

Were you in_ﬁaarlofﬂthgbmgmbqggwgf any of the organizationszﬁszgg. OF

of what leaders were you in fear? (State the blocks where they lived)

of what members were you in fear? (State the Blocks where they lived)

Why were you in fear?

Were any other members of your family in fear of them or their organizate-

ions and, if so, state the names of your family members who were in fear

of them? m A el o

If you or any member of your family or any friends were attacked by any
of the leaders or members of any of the pressure groups for not doing

what the pressure group leaders wanted state the names of the persons whe

were attaocked, t?thime and place where attacked and by whom,

S i o e
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Were you in fear of being attacked and beat®n up by them or thelr organize
at léns 1If you did not send for the forms and renounce your oitizenship?
. Had any of t hem threstened you34gﬁggk. If go, what were thelr names

end state what they saild to you,

Were you In fear that members of your family might be attacked and phys le
11y harmed if you did not send that letter, snd, 1f go, stgte what
members of your femily you feared might be harmed by them,

,/1Zz/c4L;Z;z:Z;;‘;L§ﬁ5¢f2§::;3ﬁf

Were you in fear that if you did not pend that letter that you might be

harmed by the leaders or members of any of the following organizat ions,

namely: ch@i Dan% Lfg”éeinen Dan? °”§’(Joahi Dan? § Manzanar

s

/
gang?/;::;; the Poston gangzlvv/f?' Jerome gang? __.—3 8San Pedro gang?

L~ 3 the Tiger gang? —~~ ; The Black Dragon Soclety gang? __ _ or other

m,




25
gangs? 3 or strong-arm groups? . Name the leaders, members,

groups or gangs of which you were in fear,

While you were in Tule were you ever called an InuZ Sp¥?
a ghooge? .. 3 an informenr? . ; a White Jap? jo 8 unallopy
kokuzoku? ; or other names? ____, for not doing what the organizaw

t ions want ed you to do? ____ . What names were you called?

Were you in fear of being called such names? , What were the names

of the persons who called you such names?

How many persons called on you or spoke to you and asked you 1if you had

gent for the forms upon which to renounce your 01t1uensh@p/24“44‘hiﬁhat
were thelr names Mf@w P TP 4 A

Did anyone check up on your mail in the block manager's office to see
whether or not you had sent such a letter or had rsceived an answering

letter from the Justice Department ? :i:@. State the names of the persons

who checked up on you in this manner, ___

gy S A e P S e

Did anyone take down your name as being a person who did not send such a

form or was late In sending for such a form?dgégg.. State the names of

the persons who 4ld this and whether they were Issel, Kibel or Niseil: _
jZ;géf 6¢4F4’%ﬂ544>*b444~ Y

Were any members of your family or friends attacked, beaten or threatened

for not sending for the forms? _ . Name the persons who were attacked

or beaten,

- s

Were you ostracized for not sending in such a letter promptly?,égggg Did
friends shun or avoid you or refuse to talk to you because you had not
sent for the formngzgg;.° Was your spouse? _____; your children? e

or other members of your family? 2 ¢/mistreated for your delay In sending

such a letter? » What mistreatment did they suffer and from whom?
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100, While you were in a WRA Center did the U. S, Immigration Service commence
any deportation proceeding agalnst your husband? _____; wife? ____;
father? __ ;3 mother? ___ , for violation of any immigration law? Did
you fear that the member of your family against whom deportat ion proceed-
ings had been started would be deported from the U, S. to Japan because
guch person was 1illegally in the U. 8.%? ____ . Did you fear separation
from such person and did the fear that such person would be deported
cause you to apply for the forms upon which to renounce citizenship so
that you would not be separated from such person? _ .

Re: RENUNC IATION HEARING
101, Name the mebers of your family besides you who had a hearing on an appli-

cation for renuncistion of citizenship, Husband? et WEEB T

brothers? _ : sistergﬁszggﬁg obther family members?

Did you have your hearing before the renunclation of your wife? H
husband ? Lhytonotheng? w4 4. on sisters?4%;zg,. Did you have it on the

same day as your wife? 3 husband? .+ On what date did you have

@(aﬁ Agt;gggé. Was your hearing officer a

(-

man? 38 woman?ﬁegg;a Did you have an interpreter at your hearinge

(égagz Did you nesad one?égagg

102, At your renunciation hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you
wented to renounce becasuse you were loyal to Japan, or that you wanted
Japan to win the war, or that you were against the U, S. or make other
stabements indicating loyalty to Japan or disloyalty to the U. S.3-2Zee.

What , in substance, did you tell the hearing officer as reasons why you

Name the persons who coached you and told you what you were to say at
your hearing to make certain your renunciation would be approved and state

whether they were Issel, Kibel or Nigel and the blocks where they lived.




103, Did the hearing officer tell you that you did nolt nave vO renounce your
ciltizenship in order to go to Japanjéé;).' Did you believe this? o

Were you in fear of the hearing officer? €L Why?

Did you fear to tell the hearing officer the real reasons why you were

renounc ing your citizenship? &».. hat did you think would happen if

you had told him the real reasons? _\Zeweld UL AhtritetlsBs a%@

e e e

104, Did you fear that if you did end your renunciat ion was not accepted that

you would get in trouble with your parents?@ other family members?

44 who were in Tuls Lake?w or in some other internment camp?

Were you then in fear of being forcibly relocated in

a dangerous area?@égf(ﬁ’ your hearing took place after the January 29,
1945, announcement were you still in fear of eventual relocation in a
host ile area? ) Were you then in fear of being drafted?‘%g. Were

you in fear of sepsration from members of your family?& From what

members ? MM ‘

it

Were they in Tule Lake? or in what other Center?

Were they on the WRA "free list" and eligible for relocation at the time?
M Had they applied for relocation before the dey you had your re=
nunc iat lon hearing?/:&. Were they still expecting to be sent to Japan?
Did they still want to go to Japan?/%. Had they cancelled
their applications to go to Japan? L/Z¢d
105, Were you in fear that if your renunciat ion was not accepted you would be
in danger of harm from any of the leadera or members of a ny of t he pre=-
gsure groups at the time you had your renunc iation hearing‘?% Had
tho leaders or members been removed to other camps et the t ime you had
your hearing? g2 Wers gome leaders and membsrs still in camp at the

t ime you had your hear 1ng’? . What were the namss of those who were

st111 in cemp? MM & W

: in your Rlock? /?(/, W
Were you In fear of them? %

106, Were you removed from Tule Lake Center to Blsmerck? ___ _; Santa Fe%: \\

o




28

When? / //,//ZZij’ 1 with what groups: the lst, 2nd, 3rd or

=y

4th groups? nm:jgmn: . That members of your family remained at

Tule Laks? , vy ”_zzm#£§44:2;Z:“

What other members of your family were removed from Tule Lake GCent er to

Bismarc k%

e

to Santa Fe? When?

e Fom ey rors

Were they removed from Tule Lake before you had your renunciation hegr-
ing? ____. or after you had your hearing at Tule Lake?
State wher. and where you were re-united with them,

S BT LY /z/u//e URL Sal fﬁfm_%.

Name the other members of yodé,family who renounced cit

» ———
p b e e — ]

p——

Did you give such answers because other members of your family had been
removed from Tule Lake and you thought that by éo doing you would be re-
unlted with then?2¢¢? , Did you fear that those famlly members would be
deported t o Japan and that if you gave such answers you would be re=united
with them and be deported along with them? ‘

ey

(a) If you applied for relocat ion in bhe U. 5. after your renunciation

state when you did so, _ It A :

= = € . ]

(b}, Did, you.write a letter to the Attorney General or Justice Department

asking to cancel your renunc lation? ¢’ When? In what

Cent er were you Livirg when you wrote that letter?

:;!;L4L44d/ /4«12&520 *“4f2« /ﬂi:ZQﬂzzA_;j;244¢4'4t4t£zaoac¢o49°
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Re: MITIGATION HEARING

Did you have a "mitigation hearing" between Decembé%:11945, and April,

1946 % « In what Center 4aig you have thisg heapfﬁg?

v L by 2 et & 2 °
- Was your hearing officer a man? 5 a woman?

At this hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you were loyal to
Japan or disloyal to the U, S. or words to such an effect ? gt Bl 0N

did, state why you dig thisg,
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What members of your family were wich you in the same Center at the time
of this hearing? (spouse, father, mother, children, brothers, sisters,

father in law, mother in law)

= =g ! SEesteeaeeaan et

From what members of your family were you then separgted?

Where were those members of your family at the time of your mitigation

hearing?

= s e b

Were they then on the WRA or Justice Department free 1list and eligible

for relocation? ____ . Had they relocated? __ If they had, state when.

Did you then fear that members of your family in other camps were to be
deported to Japan? ____ . Was it because of your fear that those members

were to be deported to Japan that you gave such answers to the mitigat ion

hearing officer so that you would be allowed to rejoin those members and

not be separated any longer from them? e
What members of your family, if any, were removed to other internment

camps after you had your renunciation haaring?

When and where were you re-~united with them?

When were you released from detention?

what camp were you when you were released from detention?

If any of your family members were sent to Japan, state when they sailed

for Japan. From what port

did they sail? . What other members of

your family went to Japan?

When were you placed on the "free 1ist"?




your perenis, spouse or other family members were placed on the free list,
s506e when they were placed on that list and the camp from which they

ralocatad.

e
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“tabte the name of any person in your family who has served or is serving

Mﬁe;s""
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©5ata the relation ship of such person to you

St 5e thoe Zerlal Number of such person

Has zuch rerson received an Honorable Discharge?

£, before evacuetion, or while you were in en Assembly Center or War Rew
=y pergon (Daucasian or other) threatened, warned or
galnst returning to your home or against relocating, state

the names of such persons znd thelir addresses? __  _~27 cae¢f

—_—

When wers such threaig, warnings or advice msade or given to you?

Year . o+ Mont h

Where were you st tho time?

Vere the threats, wainings or advice verbal or in letters?

Vere any members of ‘rour family threatened, warned or advised againgt

leaving cemp, relocaiing %o their homes?

Name %he famlly memburs and specify their relat ionship to you.

=re=r. s Seacri=mrepa

Have you ever served in the armed forces of the U. §.2

In what branch? SEVSINIRE CTRG, 1 T Period of service _

B s o VWhero did you serve? Date you receiv~

ed an Honorable Discharge? __ ' Serial No,

What other members of jour family (father, children, brothers or silsters)

served In the armed forces of the U, 8.

State thoir names, relationship and branch of the armed forces in which

they served or are serving,
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gince returning to Japan in 1946 have you voted in any electionszﬁgzgggggz\\\

Where? \ A Years you

e

voted? __ _ VWhat elections?

Why did you wote in those electlons?

Allied military officers told you to

were you told would happen to you if you dian't vote?

Japanese offlcials told you to vote?

e — e

What neighborhood association told you to

P e

State the names and addresses of the neighbors who told you %o

What were you told would happento you 1f you didn't vote? ___

What did you believe or fear would happen to you 1f you didn't

Since returning to Japan In 1946 has your name been registered in any

family Koseki? 1/4261&%354Le;_“ji When (what year) _ ___
« o~ B0 L N oot

Where? _ P

Did you personslly apply to be registered in a Koseki? ___

Where did you go to be registered? e R When?

Why did you go to be reglstered?

If someone other than you personally registered your name in a Koseki

state who it was who registered you.

What relation is that person to you? _

EE B =

Why were you registered in a Koseki since returning to Japan in 19467 _

What caused you to be registered in a Kosekl si

Were you registered in a Koseki since returning to Japan in 1946 becauge
if you were not registered yau would not have been given a ration card?

or would not have been given an address tO




receive mall? SHE ey " or would have been

°

punished, and,..lf so, by whom? and why?

e e

s T — c o o

s g = A )

Were you reglstered because of fear thst I1f you weren't you would suffer

in some form? , . such as would not be issued a ration card?

o

or for what obther reasons?

e T i

b Tt E e T R e e T = e 2

Have you, since returning to Japan in 1946 been naturalized as a Japanese

citizen? __ __-~Zgal . &0, what steps did you take to become natu-

ralized as g Japansese citizen?

Eoee

E—

Have you, since returning to Japan been employed by the Japanese Governw

ment or eny agency of the Japanese Government? _ _-Zesat L

r o
If so, name the of fice by which you were employed and the dates of your

employment ?

P e - T

Have you worked for the United States Government or Allied military auth-

Where did you perform yo
Dates of your employment?

Nature of property? M , M@Z@W
Est imated valuation of that property? ﬁgzjZé:2é¥i£;g!?%4g1;gn§§g;g§52;:cxu

Name of your nedrest relative In the U, S. and address.

Usi83

(Attach aZl the documents and letters you have relating to your renunc ia-
tion of U, 8. ¢itizenship.)
Have you filed an application with a U. S. Consul in Japan for a U, S.

Passport ? L2l . llen did you file it? __

(Attach a copy of the affidsvit you filed with the U, S. Consul which

explained why you renounced 1. it izenship, )
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What reasons did the U. 8. Consul give you for refusing to ilssue you a

passport ?

e==mcr =yt - - ey e

(Attach the letter o’ refusal the U. S. Consul sent to you.)

Have you registered us on aliens in Jepan? _ __Zeegpe2 ____— When? _

b i ] .

©  Tele phbne “TNumber




WAYNE M. COLLINS

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

TELEPHONE GARFIELD 1-5827

September 14, 1057

Mr. Hiromi George Hata
No. 3-1, Amailke-cho
Showa-ku, Nagoya, Japan

Dear mn. Hata:

I am returning herewith via air mail the original
of the affidavit which I have prepared for you from your
answers to my questionnaire, I would thank you to read
the answers therein and if you find them to be true,
you should take the original to a U.S. Consul in Japan
and there sign and swear to it., Thereupon you should
return it to me promptly by air mail for processing to
the Justice Department.

A copy for you to keep for future reference is
belng sent via regular mail.

If you should make any additions or corrections
in the affidavit, please inform me of the changes in a
letter enclosing the affidavit.

Very truly yours,




WAYNE M. COLLINS

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

TELEPHONE GARFIELD 1-5827

September 14, 1957

Mr. Hiroml George Hata
Showa-ku, Nagoya, Japan

Dear Mr, Hata:
Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit,

the original of which was sent air mail., You

should keep this copy for future reference.

Very truly yours,




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

L Neme  HIROMI GEORGE HATA Dateof Birth  JANUARY 23, 1907

2. If born prior to December 1,1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where
nationality? %

3, If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date

From To

1928 1937 Taken when child,
_Beec,19%5 Present See answer to Guestion 10{(A),

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period of Attendance

To

 EKemiyams Grammar School
Satoku Mlddle School

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

General school classes.

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan? Yes ¢ so, give date : ) , and your reasons for so
_applying: T wag evacuasted from Glendale, Calif,, NMAXREEN with my wother and
sister who were dependent upon me for suppert, My father was deceased; grand-
mother was in Japan, I had operated & fruit stand and lost property. Ny
mother had rheumatism and was not in good health during confinement, and I had
to have treatment for nervous disorder on left hip, and was treated for some
eight months at Nansanar, : '

My mother made application for mmu»% she was worried about my sister

thl $: PETRETENE ey 24 02

»
7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you

allegiance to the United States? m. see .t“m vould swear unqualified allegiance? r"

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? “ If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and ess your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?....... If so, state

when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor: I would have been mm if 1 had been
treated as a citizen, and at same time I had to take care of mother and sister)
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expr by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? .. #8% .  If so, give reasons:

1 heard that Tule would be the best camp to remain and Manzanar would
close up. ; '

8. (A) - Answer

Period of
Membership

WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Yes

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)
Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre) .
Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)

(Cherry Blossom Society)
Shinto Temples
Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan
Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

I believed it was Just a week or 10 days before I was sent to Santa Fe that 1
was in the dan, xjnmmnmmmxmnoxum:ummarmo%
ahow tion to the dan « Mr, Shishido, lssei, Nr, Nishi, Imi.
Bloek 81, Rev, Matsumoto Rev, Akakishi, Block 84, Mr, Hinoki, Kibei,
block 75, saild I should join the dan, that I wes not a man Af I 4ld not Joln,
1 had trusted the Reverand and since he joined, I thought it might be proper
to do 80, I was afraid that if I d¢id not join, I night be beaten by Nr, Hinokl's
rwas&nummmormmmmumvwnn
Join,

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

I was vice athletlc chairman of ¥aed O, but I did not do anything as 1 was
in for 10 days, It was Mr, Hinoki and the leaders who Just put me in. I ha
nervous disorder and could not do anything and I was atill receliving treatmen

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:




HIROMI GEOCRGE HATA

6. continued:

and grandmother left stranded in Japan as there was no male in family to assist
there, and she said I should repatriate with her. Mr. Nishi, Issei, Nr. Shu-
nichi Shishido, Issel, Rev., Akahoshi, Issei, and Rev, Matsumoto, sald I should
ask for repatriation, and they talked about being forced to relocate, My

health was not good and I was afraid of trying to live and getting work in

some strange place where there would be hostility towards us. I did not want

to be separated from my mother and sister as they depended on me,

T(A) At first I did not sign elther way and then I was called again and I felt
I had to sign "no.” I had registered for the draft in Oet. 1940, and had 3-A
classification; then right after I was in camp, I received alien-enemy, H-c
classification. Mr. Yhnnnhinna Issel, and Mr. Mr, Tetsuo Kuromiya, Kibei,
sald my answers should be "no,” that this was the only way to remain in the
ecenter, and it was dangerous to go outside of camp during wartime, There were
rumors about being drafted into service and being persecuted, and I was afraid
of this and I didn't know what would happen to my mother and sister, and I was
worried that they might be deported to Japan or be sent outside somewhere with
no way to support themselves if I were separated from them. The camp atmos-
phere was very bad about the guestlons and I was fearful of trouble from the
Terminal Island Group. Mr. Fred Toyama, Toge Tanaka and Mr, Slocum were
mistreated in camp. '

8(F) I only talked about dropping out among my buddies. MNr, Hinokl, Bloeck 75
and ¥r. shishide, Issei, said I should not try to drop ous, that I would be

a dog and not a Japanese and would not belong in camp, that I should move out to
another camp and be relocated., They also said that if I tried to drop out, ‘
my name would be reported to the Japanese Government and I would get in trouble
there upon arrival, and I was told that my parent in Japan would also get in
trouble there upon arrival, and I was told that my parent in Japan would also
get in trouble. I was afraid that if I tried to drop membership, the Selnen

Dan group might harm me., Tosh Terazawa was gut by Mr. Shimada. Alseo I had

a cousin Muneki Shimohiro a chief warden., He came to my place and I told hiwm

to quit as I did notwant him to be beaten wp - I always tried to warn him ahead
of time when I thoupt he was suspected and might get bad treatment and he
aaz:‘pd to atey clear and escape injury and he finally left from Tule to Minal-
ROk .

9(A) continued:
Government upon arrival in Japan.

Some of the dan activities were very fanatic and there had been beatings
of several persons, It was a very bad atmosphere, when we were afrald of what
would happen next and had no protection against sudden outbreaks of violence or
attacks. My mother and sister were {rightened by the activities, and I was
afraid of reprisals a&nd harm from the dan and other gangs if I d4id not renounce
citizenship., I was not very strong and unable to work while at camp and I just
taught math and lower grade Japanese language book. I had taken practically no
part at all in the dan activities as I was only in for a short time and also I
had poor physical condition but I was afraid the gangs would not excuse me for
not renouncing and might harm me, and all the time my mother sald renouncing
was the only way to remain safely togeher.
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

SEE ATTACHED SHEET

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?

Give reasons for so doing: ‘ : -~ Blogck 81 u our u“k

» and sister and I wes afvaid of
:fnm&f‘mmg reon orwruu'
o : (] pe 4 .
ock of diserimination and physical harm, WM&,

: would be separa
about separation, She insisted it was
ther. ;

mother tmmannmsptuumuemmmuzdm&m
"uumt:pum.“ﬂ.mamtmtmucmwmawm-
duct., She thought that she would be deporied and if I 414 not renounce, I migl
be forced outside of cauwp into dJdangercus cenditicons or @rafted into the amy,
she would be sent to Japan, Alse I heard rumers that I might be deporte

d eidaes o ! ifurey X M o 9, W0 8 RTINS

o

Id L33 N

3 WA AN » 5 3 Tt e e
(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who Reld renunciation hearing, give your explanation

for difference: ¢ w ssove § sald I d1d not want to go outside of camp and had no
rights, 1 was afraid to bring about separation from my mother and cause
trouble in camp ageinst me and faxdly,

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

wumﬂmh.g’u)munuumz
?

Mareh, 1 and I was re-united with|

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

My mother was always adasant about uy go with her to Japaa and I did net
want to act contrary to her wishes and .

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?
r Yes or No

i A
If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor. ‘ 1 have worked for the u.5, w &t
Kyoto, as engineer adviser, from 1946 to 1952, ‘

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on in the s my Serial number is
State the date State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service 5 I was released from active duty on and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or No

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12, If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

/8/ George Hiromi Hata

(Signature in full of applicant)

igth , . September Y 57

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

ate Seal /s/ Naney L, Snider
mmu}apu American Vice Consul

This afidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




September 19, 1957

#AYNE M. GOLLLNS
ATTORNZY AT LAW

Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco, California

Dear. Sdrs

This is to express my thenks tor all the effort you have extended
" toward my case in past for reinstatement of U.S. Citizenship Paper.
I have receivad your air msil today and review the ratters thorouphly,
and find nothing =lse to be inserted. ;

I'm all mailing the same back to you with American Vies Consul's
3eal in Nagoys, Japan.

I'm wishing this would be the final and everything will turn. out

with satisfacticn.
Thanking you ag=in for ths effort and your arrangement for the sat-

tlement of this matters will b= greatly appreciated.

Very truly yours

Eiromi Hate
No. “3-1, Amaike-cho
Showe-ku, Nagoya, Japan




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “‘uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name m W mi!& Date of Birth 3m 33. ’ﬁ?

2. If born prior to December 1,1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where
nationality? §i0

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date

To

iges isyy Taken when shild,
_bew 195 Fresent fee smower o ‘weatlion 10(A),

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period of Attendance

To

Esmipess Sraseae School | igse
gatokuy Middle fchoeld 19 1937

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Gonerel schoel clesses.

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan? 589 If so, give date mma , and your reasons for so
aplyingr§ WHE EYASUStEd fren GLendeis, SOILL., NESIRANE wilh &F soblher wod
aister whe were Jspondent upen we Tor suppert, Ay feloes wed J@eeased) grende
sother waa In Japan, 1 hed spereted @ frult stamd snd leat properly,. W
Hother hed rRecunesies Snd wee Aos in Good Bealsh during conlinewent, and I hed
to Bave trestsens for nervous Jdlserder on left e, and was Yrested Do sowe

, wis m iy usm

it
d &

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when aw .w
g3, See sltached

allegiance to the United States? h" ould swear unqualified allegiance?

W

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and e%figess your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing.to i i ce ? - : te
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor: Wt Ww mfw !‘r I m W

trestod a8 & citlizen, snd @t pene tilme I ned So toke care of mosher snd sister)
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? . ﬁ‘ If so, give reasons:

o xmnmtm.maumunmummmma
LEe UPe

8. (A) \ Period of
Membership

4
o

WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS:

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)
Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nippenjin Kai)
Central Japanese Association of Southern California
* Diai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and
Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai
Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)
Hi%méru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society——a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)
Ja'p'ari}'ese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)
Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)
Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
- Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)
- Northwest Japanese Association

‘."‘S;akura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
~ +(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples
Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan
Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

dm 8 smn‘ " -sanwnwﬁamn{uﬁua

LR R IRE

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

believed 16 wen Just & wxamhm:usmtummmt!
:uuihm. x"nm mnmxmnssumauumama
shw tien e the dan group. « Shishlde, Jssel, Be, Bledil, Iseel,

Bloek 51, fev, Natsuscto sad Rev, skeikishi, Biosk U4, Mmr, Hineki, Hibei,

biock 7’. $3id I smeald jeln “:sm m.“u;wuzmt a man if 1 éis .:.amf Join,
%-aw. zmaxmumtnzmmmxum»mmnm., nopd '
gm&puhuammuasorwmmm o

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

I was vice athletic chalraun of Ward ¥, but I 44€ not & anything s 1 wes
in for 10 deys. zsmﬁr.mm'suxm Juss put oe in,
nerveus dlsorder and could not de anybbdoag and I was ot recelving veas

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

m&tcuw Ayeygh o
nhumauw

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who Reld renunciation heatmg, give your explanation

for difference:
xmlmtmln‘mmm cutalue of cesy end had na
+ X wap afreild o Mmmgnnvmmm

m in caap sgaines me fa=Aly,

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

sapleined in snswer to Jueatien Bo A} sere sase o Siue I
b'm-zu. xmmumnng;m. 'Dzé and I wes re-united with

wmwmmum

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan. . i
My wother wes slways adesant sboul ay with her t Japaa and I 914
want to set contrary to ner wishes and " 4

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?

Answer Yes or No |

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor. 1 have worked for Lhe .8, w at
Eyote, as enginesr adviser, feom 13406 so 1952,

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on in the : s my Serial number is
State the date State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service 3 I was released from active duty on and received my Discharge

Answer Yes or No

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

/s/ George Hiromi Hata

(Signature in full of applicant)

1007

U.S. Consulate Seal /s/ Nancy L. Snider
Nagoya, Japan American Vice Consul

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.
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6. continued:

and grandmother left stranded in Japan as there was no male in family to assist
there, and she sald I should repatriste with her., MNr, Nishi, Issei, ¥r. Shu-
nichi Shishido, Issel, Rev, Akahoshi, Issel, and Rev, Matsumoto, saild I should
ask for repatriation, and they talked about being forced to relocate, My
health was not good and I was afraid of trying to live and getting work in

some strange place where there would be hostility towards us, I did not want
to be separated from my mother and sister as they depended on me,

T(A) At first I did not sign either way and then I was called again and I felt
I had to sign "no." I had registered for the draft in Oct. 1940, and had 3-A
classification; then right alter I was in camp, I received alien-enemy, 4-¢
classification. #Mr. Yhmnahina# Issel, and ¥r. Mr, Tetsuo Kuromiya, Kibei,

gald my answers should be "no,"” that this was the only way to remain in the
genter, and it was dangerous to go outside of camp during wartime. There were
rumors about being drafted into service and being persecuted, and I was afrald
of this and I didn't know what would happen to my mother and sister, and I was
worried that they might be deported to Japan or be sent outside somewhere with
ne way to support themselves if I were separated from them. The camp atmps-
phere was very bad about the guestions and I was fearful of trouble from the
Terminal Island Group, Mr. Fred Toyama, Togo Tanaka and Mr, Slocum were
mistreated in camp.

8(F) I ornly talked about drepping out ameng my buddies., Mr., Hinoki, Block 75 '
and Mr, Shishido, Issel, sald I should not try to drop out, that I would be J
a dog and not a Japanese and would not belong in camp, that I should move out to
another camp and be relocated, They also said that 1f I tried to drop out,

my name would be reported to the Japanese Governuent and I would get in trouble
there upon arrival, and I was told that my parent in Japan would also get in. -
trouble there upon arvival, and I was told that my parent in Japan would al&u
get in trouble, I was afraid that 4if I tried to drop membership, the *cln.u
Dan group might harm me, Tosh Terazawa was cut by Mr, Shimada., Also I had b

& cousin Nunekl Shimchiroc a chief warden, He came to my place and I told hin

to gquit as I did notwnt him to be beaten up - I always tried to warn him ahes
of time when I thoubt he was suspected and might get bad tresatwenti and he
managed to stay clear and escape injury and he finally left from Tule $0 Minal-

9(A) continued:
Covernment upon arrival in Japan,

3ome of the dan activities were very fanatic and there had been beatings
of several persons. It was & very bad atmosphere, when we were afrald of what
would happen next and had no protection against sudden outbreaks of violence or
attacks. My mother and sister were Irightened by the activities, and I was
afraid of reprisals and harm from the dan and other gangs if I did not renounce
citlizenship. 1 was not very strong and unable to work while at camp and I Juat
taught math and lower grade Japanese language book. I had taken practically no
part at all in the dan activities as I was only in for & short time and also I
had poor physical condition but I was afraid the gangs would not excuse me for
not renouncing and might harm me, and 8ll the time my mother sald renocuncing
was the only way to remain safely togeher,
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AFFIDAVIT -~ s

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name  HTROMI GEORGE HATA Dateof Birth  JANUARY 23, 1917

2. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where
nationality? NO

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

To

1928 1937 _Paken when child.
Dec, 1945 |  Present | See a » X

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period of Attendance

To

gisle

Middle School

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

General school classes.

v

P

| 6. /Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?... ¥@g.....If so, give: date. - <5 and your redso
Ryine: I was evacuated from Glendale, Calif., MIGCOMNIE with my

slaterkwho were dependent upon me for support. My father was deceased

mothed, wéd/ in Japan, I had operated a frult stan

mother had rheumatism and was not in good health ing confinement, and I had
© have treatment for nervous disorder on left hip, and was treated for some |
2ight honths at Manzanar, y o

My mother made application for repatmtion; she was worried about my sis;;o

3

7 , %. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you

allegiance to the United States? Yes, see atta ched shee 1; would swear unqualified allegiance? YQ,
&

4

If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?... Yom If so, state

when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor: I would have been mm if I had been
freated as a citizen, and at same time I had to take care of mother and sister.
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expreﬂs by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? If so, give reasons:

I heard that Tule would be the best camp to remain and Manzanar would
close up. '

8. (A) Period of
. Membership
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS:

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)
Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)
Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples
Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member: e ﬂ b t F‘ mt x

lieved it was Just a W before I was sent to Santa :

fm:‘ﬁotg dan, xannd ock 81 and I was sick at this time and afraid th
show sition to the dan group. MNr, Shishido, Issei, Mr. Nishi, Issel,
Block 81, Rev. Matsumoto and Rev. Akakishi, Block 84, Mr, Hinokl, Kibeil,
block 75, said I should jein the dan, that I was not a man if I did not Joln,
‘I had trusted the Reverand and since he joined, I thought it might be proper P
to do so0, I was afraid that if I did not join, I might be beaten by Mr, Hinokl‘'s
group 2s he was the leader of Terminal Island group and he convinced me %o

Joinﬁ?mﬂﬁv

A4 T4

(&)} Statwf your activity and offices you held:

was vice athletic chairman of Ward 8, but I did not do anything as I was o
/u” It was Mr. Hinokl and the leaders who just put me in. I ha

nervous disorder and could not do anything and I was 8till receiving weatment

.Tarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

SEE ATTACHED SHEET

9. (A) When did you decide. to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship? Uncertain
Givereasons forso doing: ¢ o member some announcement in ou- block 81 in our block
pess hall by Mr, Takabashli about the camp closing. I had to look after my
mother and sister and I was afrald of being forced outside of camp To some
trange place where I could not earn a living, and would be in danger because
bf the hostility of the public against persons of our race. There were magik,
tories in our block of discrimination and physical harm. WMr, Takahashl ¢ q
about zettinz form and renouncing so we could stay in camg until suogzzggggggg
Peeling outside of camp died down. My mother said I renouncé
he dangerous conditions, that we would probably starve if I did not' rencunce.
v mother said that we would be separated if I did not renounce, and I heard
umors about separation, She insisted it was the only way we cou eh
saf'ely together, < A
My mother kept worrying about getting separated from me and said that
she was sent to Japan, ¥NMK she would get in trouble there Reseas oy 0@
duch, She thought that she would be deported and 1f I did not renounce, I might
be forced outside of camp into dangerous conditions or @rafted into the army,
hile she would be sent to Japan. Also I heard rumors that I might be deported
¢ . Fi® - | -1y : U * ~ ey 4 ’ v [ AN |

. - & g HAL v
. : % y o . 2 SUNTLNULELD UD b TAL AT YaEivy
(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who Neld remuficiation hearing, give your explanation

for difference: v pelieve I said I did not want to go outside of camp and had no

AvWaN “¥4ls y 2O UEI0 ) 28 A ok

ights. I was afraid to bring about separation from my mother and cause
Frunhlc in camp against me and family.

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

My fears explained in answer to Question No. 9(A) were same to time I
unced. I was sent to Santh Fe about March, 1945, and I was re-united with
mother on board ship in December 1945,

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for_having returned to

My mother was always adamant about my gofﬁgmnith her to Japan and I did not
want to act contrary to her wishes and welfare.

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?
Answer Yes or No

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor. I have worked for the U.S. w 2t
Kyoto, as engineer adviser, from 1946 to 1952, -

>

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on in the
State the date y State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service ; I was released from active duty on and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or No

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you vclunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

/s/ George Hiromi Hata

(Signature in full of applicant)

57

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19

ok September

3

U.S. Consulate Seal /s/ Nancy L. Snider
Nagoya, Japan American Vice Consul

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




6. continued:
and grandmother left gtranded in Japan as there was no male in faml
there, and she said Iyswewdd repatriate with her. Mr. Nishi, Issei,
nichi ,Shishido, Issef,' Rev., Akahoshi, Issej, and Matsumoto, sai
zé repatriation, and they talked aboué?boi oﬁgaga o relocate
alth was not good and I was afraid of trying to 11 etting

some strange place where there would be hostility, towards ps. I did
to be separated from my mother and sister as the A pen on me,

7(A) At first I did not sign elther way and then I was called again and & = LU/
I had to sign "no.” I had registered for the draft in Oct. 1940, and had 3-A fi
classification; then right after I was in camp, I recelved alien-enemy, fJag M ’3
eclassification. shima, Igsgl, a « Mr, Tetsuo Kugg;%xa Kibel
said my answers m "no, M the only way -t mﬁw
re

center, apd it was dangerous to go outside of camp during waf%inc. were
i

#
rumors about being drafted into service and being persecuted, and I was al

of this I didn't know what would happen to my mother and sisterg74ad <57
worried that they might be deported to Japan or be sent outside sontewhere with
no way to support themselves 1f I were separated from them. The camp atmosg=
phere was very bad about the gquestions and I was fearful of trouble from the
Terminal Island Group, . Fred Toyama, Togo Tanaka and Mr., Slocum w

3’.:;5%9 ed in camp mg,é’ffw 20 pre i P> Sprgei e X e,z?#i/w

8(F) I only talked about dropping out among my buddies. Mr. Hin ek T5
and Mr, shishido, Issei, said I should not try te drop out, that be

a dog and not a Japanese aegzzgﬁggé 13 long in camp, that I ¥move out to
another camp and be reloca so°said that if I tried to drop out,
name would be reported to‘@he Japanese Ggve would get in trouble
P upon arrival, and I was told that my g ST d also get in
trouble there upon arrival, and I was told that ‘ny geeny in Japan would also

get in trouble, I was afraid that if I tried to drfop meh
Dan group might harm me. Tosh Terazawa was cut by Mr, Shimada.
a cousin Muneki Shimohiro a chief warden, He came to my P13°$%

an
to quit as I did notwant him to be beaten up - I always tried Lo warn him ahead
of time when I thoupt he was suspected and might get bad treatment and he
‘zzaaged to stay clear and escape injury and he finally left from Tule to Mi

ka.

9(A) continued:
Government upon arrival in Japan,

Some of the dan activities were very fanatie{and there had been beatings
of several persons. It was a very bad atmosphere, when we were afrald of what
would happen next and had no protection against sudden outbreaks of violence or
attacks. My mother snd sister were frightened by the activitles, and 1 was
afraid of reprisals and harm from the dan and other gangs if I dld not renounce
eitizenship., I was not very strong and unable te work while at camp and I Jjust
taught math and lower grade Japanese language book. I had taken practically no
part at all in the dan activities as I was only in for a short time and also I
had poor physical condition but I was afraid the gangs would not excuse me for
not renouncing and might harm me, and all the time my mother sald renouncing
was the only way to remain safely togeher.




WAYNE M, COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

Telephone GArfield 1-5827

Mr., Hiromi (George) Hata Wi?ﬁg?
NO. 3"1, Amike‘cho

Showa Ku

Nagoya, Japan

Dear Mr, Hiromi Hata:

The affidavit forms you recently returned to me have
been examined and compared with the records in my office.
The forms appeared to me to be in good order. In conse-
quence, I have delivered them to the U,S, Attorney's office
for processing through the Justice Department,

On February 21, 1957, Assistant U,S, Attorney General
George C, Doub, assured me that the Department would view
renunciants cases with more liberality in granting adminis-
trative clearance than heretofore,

Because a fairly large number of affidavits of other
renunciants also are being processed it may take several
months before a final decision in your case 1is made by the
Justice Department.

Therefore, I suggest that you wait patiently for the
decision in your case which I shall relay to you Jjust as
soon as I receive information from the Department.

If the Justice Department clears you by this adminis-
trative method a Judgment cancelling your renuncilation and
declaring you to be a U,S, citizen will be entered in the
mass suits,

If the Justice Department does not clear you by this
administrative method, your case then can be set down for
an individual court hearing,

Veri/ffuly yours,
// {%’ﬁé /Z/ /)

e i s, &




- COPY FROM
PEPATL( ST T OF JUSTICR
CIV.L DIVISION
¥ ASIIINGTON 25, D, G w

JAN 9 1958
CD:0C

146=51-209

93-1-1320

Lloyd H. Burke, Esquire
United States Attorney

L22 Post Office Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

our s s 4 al v, Brownell, et al.

Furuya, et al v, Brownell, ¢t al. {Consolidated
actions = Civil Nes. 2529k & 25295). Renunciation
of Citisenship, Former Title 8 v.S.C. 801(1i).

Dear Mr. Burkes

This is in response to your letter of October 17, 1957, enclosing
affidavit of the sbove-named subject for a determination as to whether
his case may be considered as coming within the coverage of the ruling
of the Court of Appeals in the cuaof‘mﬂ%r.&, 953,
in sccordance with a letter from this Department dated 21, 1953,
to Mr, Wayne M. Collins.

You are advised that an affidavit of this subject was previously
submitted to this Department by the Department of State with a similar
request for our views. On March 26, 1951, we advised that Department
that we were of the opinion that subject's case could not be considered
as coming within the coverage of the decision in the above case. —7

You are further advised that Setsuo Jim Kuromiya, File No. 1L6~5h-1165,
stated in his affidavit submitted by your letter oI Uctober 5, 1956, that
this subject was among the persons who epplied pressure upon him to join
the Hokoku Seinen-dan, and that this subjeet actually forced him to sign
mw:timmwmthMrMhaamrdm
group "might apply force to make me become 2 member". Mr. Kuromiya further
stated that this subject was among the persons who threstened that he and
his sister might suffer bodily harm if he failed to renounce, and he
alleged that he renounced in order to protect himself and sister from harm.
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Eokane and Toshibumi s File No. 146-54~2862, stated in their
affidavits submit your letter of April 19, 1956 that this subject
threatened Mr. Okumura with violence if he failed to join the Hokoku
Seinen-dan, and both Mr, and Mrs., Okumura stated that subject exerted
fear, threats and pressure upon them to remounce, particularly upen

Mr. Okumira, and they alleged that they remounced because of fear of
bodily harm if they failed to renounce.

in view of the serious nature of these charges against the subject,
we feel that we should defer the processing of his affidavit until such
time as he submits under oath a statement concerning the charges.

g In the event subject submits an additional affidavit he should

include therein the reasons for his application for repatriation on
October 1, 1945 and his statements in said aspplication to the effect
that he desired to be repatriated to Japan unconditionally and withoud
qualification, in the event his mother and sister were unable %o
accompany him, He further stated in the form that he desired repatri-
ation for the reason he was educated in Japan in the Japanese way, he
preferred that country to the United States and he intended to contribute
nis labor to the postewar industry of Japan. He further stated that he
had always been loyal to Japan and had no intention of changing his
loyalty to any other country. A detailed explanation of these damaging
—~gtatements should be made by the subjects

We assume that Mr, Collins will wish to inform the subject of the
above evidence of record sgainst him and to advise him that he may have
an opportunity to submit a statement under oath, concerning the matter,
We will appreciate being informed of the action he decides to take
relative to the matter.

Yours very truly,

GEORGE COCHRAN DOUB
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

Enoch E. Ellison
Chief, Japanese Claims Seetion




WAYNE M, COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California
Telephone GArfield 1-5827

January 28, 1958

Mr. Hiromi George Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike-cho
Showa-~ku, Nagoya, Japan

Dear Mr. Hata:

The Justice Department has informed me by letter that
it desires additional information from you amplifying certain
answers you gave in the Affidavits which you sent to me and
which were forwarded to that Department for processing. The
letter from that Department states, as follows:

"you are further advised that Setsuo Jim Kuromiya, File
No. 146-54-1165, stated in his affidavit submitted by your
letter of October 5, 1956, that this subject was among the
persons who applied pressure upon him to Join the Hokoku Selnen
Dan, and that this subject actually forced him to sign the
application and told him that if he refused, he or a member
of his group "might apply force to make me become a member".
Mr. Kuromiya further stated that this subject was among the
persons who threatened that he and his sister might suffer
bodily harm if he failed to renounce, and he alleged that he
renounced in order to protect himself and sister from harm.

Kokane and Toshibumi Okumura, File No. 146-54-2862, stated
in their affidavits submitted by your letter of April 19, 1956,
that this subject threatened Mr. Okumura with violence if he
failed to join the Hokoku Seinen-dan, and both Mr. and Mrs.
Okumura stated that subject exerted fear, threats and pressure
upon them to renounce, particularly upon Mr. Okumura, and they
alleged that they renounced because of fear of bodily harm 1if
they failed to renounce.

In view of the serious nature of these charges against the
subject, we feel that we should defer the processing of his
affidavit until =uch time as he submits under oath a statement
concerning the c' cge.

In the event subject submits an additional affidavit he
should include therein the reasons for his application for

‘1-




Hiromi George Hata - la-

repatriation on October 1, 1945 and his statements in said
application to the effect that he desired to be repatriated
to Japan unconditionally and without qualification, in the
event his mother and sister were unable to accompany him. He
further stated in the form that he desired repatriation for
the reason he was educated in Japan in the Japanese way, he
preferred that country to the United States and he intended
to contribute his labor to the post-war industry of Japan.

He further stated that he had always been loyal to Japan and
had no intention of changing his loyalty to any other country.
A detailed explanation of these damaging statements should be
made by the subject."
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I suggest that you type or write out on separate sheets
of paper your proposed answers to the precise questions the
Justice Department wishes you to answer, You should answer
the questions specifically and more fully than on the Affida-
vits you sent to me, (You have a copy of the Affidavits in
your possession for reference purposes.,) Full and complete
explanations will help you and will not cause anyone else any
harm even if you give the names of persons, whether a parent,
spouse, family member or strangers, who exerted pressure on
you or threatened you or caused you to have fears.

When you have typed or written out your proposed answers
to the questions you should send them to me to examine. If
the answers appear to me to be satisfactory I shall let you
know, Then the answers can be put into final form in "Supple-
mental Affidavits" which then can be sworn to and be sent to
me for forwarding to the Department of Justice for processing,
The sooner you do this the sooner your case will be processed
by that Department,

Very Brély yours,

YA
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February 23 1958

WAYNE Me COLLINS George Hi
Attorney at Law # 1, 3-chone, Analke cho,

220 Bush Street Showae-ku, Nagoya, Janan
Sen Francisco 4, California \

\
Dear Sir:

\s;zzfégfs\\ I have received your letter reguesting ansﬁer to Mp. Setsuo Jim Kuromiya, ST
%

ile No. 146-54~1165 and Wr. Toshibumi Okumura, File No. 146-54-2862 and both
arties has stated in their affidavit that I have applied pressure uvon them to
join the Hokoku Seinen Dan.

* Mr. Setsuo Jim Kuromiya used to be my best freind ever since we were ra-
located from west coast to Manzanar Relocation Center end lived in the same
block # 4. We managed to help each other on any occassion we face to while
in the camp and moved to Tule Lake together and there again we lived in the
same block # 81.

When the Hokoku Seinen Dan was organized under sponsor of Isei grouns
mostly from Terminal Island groups but we both gave excuses and managed to stay
out for sometime. We were insisted to join the Dan after second group of
Dan members were tranferred to both North Dakota and Santa Fe and were told
that all young man who is left behind should join the Dan in order to protect

their families o} alneady b en trapsferred bo campyespegially wop-
en and childre1’1. //%iowzn (e 'f ﬂ»& &M%JJMZ« X

The pressure were mostly applled from the Terminal Island group who had the »
most powerful members in the camp and Mr. Kuromiya used to gather all kinds of e
informetion and the rumors which I used to hear from him from time to time.
This actually confused my mind for determination especially when the atmosphere
of the camp were very bad. We have disgusted the matters over end over and
finally came to conclussion that we just had to join the Dan to proteet our life
from suddent violence which was lisble to happen at any time. We also promised
to stict together until the war end. Unfortunately, L was moved to Santa TFe ZZ;)

and Mr. Kuromiya got to remaéﬁgigaga&;hLake c Therefore, the statement
he made in his affidavit is

> tement. e never expe is caus
me incon ience sm Jaoa%‘btjﬁ;sent time Zref Z&WM

* Mr. Toshibumi Okumura is also a friend of mine since we were moved to
Tule Lake Ceamp and was livéng in the same bloeck # 81. He was a frien# of Mr.
Furomiya and later introduced to me him. I understand that he used to beslong
to Terminal Island Group while in Manzanar R. C. and were aware of him at begin-
ing but later I was told by Mr. Kuromiya that he actually didn't belongz to that
group so we became friend each other. When joining the Dan at the same time,
I beleive he was the one who gave more of the rumors since he knew most of the
Terminal Island Group members.

Since I'm in Japan at present time, he probably thought his statement will
not cause me inconvenient in later date. I have nothing to do of him joining
the Hokoku Seinen Dan and furtherfore, Hoshi Den was formally the Terminal Island
Isei Group and had all the control in that Ward.*

* The reason for application for repatriation on October 1, 1945.
#ben the application took place at Santa Fe Camp, I had a several letter corres-
pond from my mother in Tule Lake and she has always wanted me to apply for re-
patriation for simple reason of re joingng. She has wrote me that unless I
apply for repatriation, she would never get to join in qture d that %ﬁezg
be the opinion of most the peoples in Tule Lake Camp.

Before reporting at the hearing board, I have asked several peoples who
has finished their hesaring end all said they have signed for repatristion.
thought I should do the same for my mother's sake and faced the hearing board.
Wwhen some of the other question was asked, I tried to concentrate my mind but

didn't heve much time to think it over.
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(Continue)
I noticed in the statement about being loyal to Japan but this was the idi ;5&' ¥
to protect my mother from being seperate since she was an Alien and Japan was her ~47
mother country. Her plans was to return to Japan and see her mother and one
of my sister who were left stranded in Japan during the war.

Sowe of the wording was made up by the officer in charge at that time since
my mind was all confused and worrying about my mother.only.

I did had a education in Japen but during the childhood. I have return
to the States snd continued schooling in Los Angeles and graduate the High School,

James a CGarfield High. As fay as learning the wey of liyipg, I v know
American _of living.\ m& mﬁ"g 46729%”—/
v aatg‘:‘lly didn't kpow Wt te G th;g ?1%1 I saw the letter of\J
g b — . ;o e _ S IV S b 2 e —
?}??-g%;k this pr’o\po{zilaj er and thing
think should in besd 1 be &y rei?h{gg;,, > ¥0°>




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

WASHINGTON, D. C.

Robert H. Schnacke, Esquire
United States Attorney

422 Post Office Building
Seventh & Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Re. Hiromi George Hate

Your ref: Abo et al v. Rogers et al. Furuya
et al v. Rogers et al. (Consolidated actions -
Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation of
Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(i).

Dear Mr. Schnacke:

This t"113 in response to your letter of October 3, 1958, enclosing a
affidavit for a determination as to whether the case of
the above-named subject may be considered as coming within the coverage
of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson v. Murakami,
176 F. 24 953 » in accordance with a letter from this Department dated
September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

You are advised that in the event of litigation involving an issue of
the validity of the subject renunciation, this Department would be unable
either to stipulate that the affidavit be accepted as evidence in lieu of
testimony, or to concede that said case comes within the coverage of the
above decision. The reasons for the Department's position in this respect,
among others, are:

This subject was born January 23, 1917, in the United States and resided
in Japan from 1927 to 1937, where he received his education. Pertinent records
7 | of the War Relocation Authority indicate that this subject gave negative
AR wers to questions 27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form. He applied
[ for repatriation on April 7, 1943 and again on October 1, 194S. In this
([ | latter application he indicated that he desired to be repatriated to Japan
unconditionally and without qualification: for the reason he was educated in
Japan in the Japanese way and preferred to live in that country and contribute
\/ | his labor to "post~war industry of Japan", He further stated in the form
that he had always been loyal to Japan and had no intention of changing his
* |loyalty to any other country. He was a member of the Sokuji Kikoku loshi-dan
Y and the Hokoku Seinen=dan and served as an officer of the latter organization.
At his renunciation hearing he affirmed that his loyalty was to Japan.
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In an interview on April 16, 19LS with an Immigration and Naturalization
Patrol Inspector, subject stated that he desired to return to Japan because
all of his relatives were there, he was the head of the family and further
stated that he could not be loyal to two countries. | In view of the facts

“hereinbefore recited, the expressed reasons for remunciation as set forth in
subject's affidavit are not persuasive and we are of the opinion that his
case may not be considered as coming within the coverage of the decision in
the Murakami case.

In aceordance with our sbove~referred to letter of September 21, 1953,
we attach the original and three copies of the affidavit dated September 19,
1957 and the original and three copies of the affidavit dated September 22,
1958 for return to Mr, Collins.

Yours very truly,
GEORGE COCHRAN DOUB

Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

Byt

Enoch E. Ellison
Chief, Japanese Claims Section

Enclosuress

Original and three copies of
affidavit dated September 19, 1957.

Original and three copies of
supplemantal affidavit dated September 22, 1958.
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WASHINGTON, D. C. ejf

i i i 0CT 271858
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Robert H. Schnacke, Esquire
United States Attorney

422 Post Office Building
Seventh & Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Re: Hiromi George lHata
Your ref: Abo et al v. Rogers et al. Furuya
et al v. Rogers et al. (Consolidated actions -
Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation of
Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(1).

Dear Mr. Schnacke:

This is in response to your letter of Oetober 3, 1958, enclosing a

affidavit for a determination as to whether the case of
the above-named subject may be considered as coming within the coverage
of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson v. Murakemi,
176 F. 24 953, in accordance with a letter from this Department dated
September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

You are advised that in the event of litigation involving an issue of
the validity of the subject renunciation, this Department would be unable
either to stipulate that the affidavit be accepted as evidence in lieu of
testimony, or to concede that said case comes within the coverage of the
above decision. The reasons for the Department's position in this respect,
emong others, are:

This subject was born Janvary 23, 1917, in the United States and resided
in Japan from 1927 to 1937, where he received his education., Pertinent records
of the War Relocation Authority indicate that this subject gave negative
answers to guestions 27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form. He applied
for repatriation on April 7, 1943 and again on October 1, 1945. Ia this
latter application he indicated that he desired to be repatristed to Japan
uncenditionally and without qualification: for the reason he was educated in
Japan in the Japanese way and preferred to live in that country and contribute
his labor to "poste-war industry of Japan". He further stated in the form

had always been loyal to Japan and had no intention of changing his
to any other country. He was a member of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan
Seinen~dan and served as an officer of the latter organization.
% his remunciation hearing he affimmed that his loyalty wes to Japan.
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In an interview on April 16, 1945 with an Immigration and Waturalization
Patrol Inspector, subject stated that he desired to return to Japan because
all of his relatives were there, he was the head of the family and further
gtated that he could not be loyal to two countries, In view of the facts
hereinbefore recited, the expressed reasons for remunciation as set forth in
subject's affidavit are not persuasive and we are of the opinion that his
case may not be considered as coming within the coverage of the deeision in
the Muralkami case.

In accordance with our sbove-referred to letter of September 21, 1953,
we attach the original and three copies of the affidavit dated September 19,
1957 and the original and three copies of the affidavit dated September 22,
1958 for return to Mr. Collins.

Yours very truly,

GEORGE COCHRAN DOUB
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

Bys

Enclosuress

Original and three copies of
affidevit dated September 19; 1957

Originsl and three coples of
supplemantal affidavit dated September 22, 1958,
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AFFIDAVIT OF HIROMI (GEORGE) HATA
(Supplement to Affidavit Dated September 19, 1957)

I have received the letter from Mr. Collins requesting
answer to Mr, Setsuo Jim Kuromiys, file No. 146-54-1165 and Mr,
Toshibumi Okumura, File No, 146-54-2862 and both parties have
stated in their affidavit that I have applied pressure upon them
to join the Hokoku Seinen Dan,

Mr. Setsuo Jim Kuromiya used to be my best {riend ever since
we were relocated from west coast to Manzanar Relocation Center
and lived in the same block #4. We managed to help each other on
any occasion we face to while in the camp and moved to Tule Lake
together and there again we lived in the same block #81.

When the Hokoku Seinen Dan was organized under sponsor of
Issei groups mostly from Terminal Island groups we both gave
excuses and managed to stay out for sometime, We were insisted to
Join the Dan after second group of Dan members were transferred to
both North Dakota and Santa Fe and were told that all young men
who is left behind should join the Dan in order to protect their
families, the one already been transferred to both camp, especially
women and children. Mr. Kuromiya wanted to make sure of his safety
and his sister too and I wanted to be sure I was safe from harm too

The pressure was mostly applied from the Terminal Island group

who had the most powerful members in the camp and Mr. Kuromiya used

to gather all kinds of information and the rumors which I used to
hear from him from time to time. This actually confused my mind
for determination especially when the atmosphere of the camp were
very bad. We had discussed the matters over and over and finally
cameé to conclusion that we Jjust had to Join the Dan to protect our
1ife from sudden violence which was liable to happen at any time,
We also promised to stick together until the war end., Unfortunate-

ly, I was moved to Santa Fe and Mr. Kuromiya got to remain in Tule
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peveral letters from my mother in Tule Lake and she has always

Lake Camp, Therefore, the statement he made in his affidavit 1is

not a8 true statement., Maybe he never expect this causing me

inconvenience since I'm in Japan at present time and maybe he think

such statement wouldn't hurt me as he thinks I would be in Japan,
Mr. Toshibuml Okumura is also a friend of mine since we were

moved to Tule Lake Camp and was living in the same block #81.

He was a friend of Mr. Kuromiya and later introduced him to me,

I understand that he used to belong to Terminal Island Group while

in Manzanar R, C. and were asware of him at bcginning'put later I

was told by Mr, Kuromiya that he actually didn't belong to that
group 80 we became friends to each other. When Joining the Dan at
the same time, I believe he was the one who gave more of the rumoré
eince he knew most of the Terminal Island Group members,

8ince I'm in Japan at present time, he probably thought his
statement will not cause me inconvenience in later date. I have
nothing to do with his joining the Hokoku Seinen Dan and further-
more, Hoshl Dan was formally the Terminal Island Issel Group and
had all the control in that ward,

The reason for application for repatriation on October 1,
1945, when the application took place at Santa Fe Camp, I had

wanted me to apply for repatriation for simple reason of rejoining.
She has wrote me that unless I apply for repatriation, she would
never get to Join in future and that seems to be the opinion of
most of the people in Tule Lake Camp, Thinking she is sure to be
deported to Japan I would have said I wanted to go to Japan even
if mother and sister didn't because I believed for sure they'd be
sent to Japan and we didn't want to be separated,

I noticed in the statement about being loyal to Japan but
this was the ides to protect my mother from being separate since
she was an Alien and Japan was her mother country. Her plans was

to return to Japan and see her mother and one of my sister who were
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ieft stranded in Japan during the war.

Some of the wording was made up by the officer in charge at
that time since my mind was all confused and worrying about my
mother only.

I d1d have an education in Japan but during my childhood., I
have returned to the States and continued schooling in Los Angeles
and graduated from High School, James A. Garfield High. As far as
learning the way of living, I only know the American way of living.
I wasn't loyal to Japan and didn't want to be separated from her
and she insisted on going to Japan and wanted me to go along., I
actually didn't know what I stated at that time until I saw the

letter of Mr., Collins saying what the Justice Department sald I
stated.

/s8/ Hiromi Hata
HiromI (Georgeé) Hata

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 22nday of September
1958,

>

/s/ Harvey J. Feldman
Harvey J. Feldman

~Vice Conaul of the United States of |

America in and for Nagoya, Japan.
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AFFIDAVIT OF HIROMI (GEORGE) HK;A
(Supplement to Affidavit Dated Septgﬁber 19, 1957)

&

/

I have received the letter from Mr?’Colllns requesting

answer to Mr. Setsuo Jim Kuromiya, flLéiNO. 146=54=-1165 and Mr.
Toshibumi Okumura, File No. 146-54-2862 and both parties has
stated in their affidavit that I hqé; applied pressure upon them
to join the Hokoku Seinen Dan.

Mr. Setsuo Jim Kuromiya uséggto be my best friend ever since
we were relocated from west co st to Manzanar Relocation Center

g
'and lived in the same block ?i. We managed to help each other on

together and there again

any occasion we face to wzzie in the camp and moved to Tule Lake

lived in the same block #81.

When the Hokoku Sei#in Dan was organized under sponsor of
Issei groups mostly frqﬁ Terminal Island groups but we both gave
excuses and managed tofstay out for sometime. We were insisted
to join the Dan aften;second group of Dan members were transferred
to both North Dakotq and Santa Fe and were told that all young
man who is left beylnd should join the Dan in order to protect
their families, t?é one already been transferred to both camp,
especially womengénd children. Mr. Kuromiya wanted to make sure
of his safety a%é his sister too and I wanted to be sure I was
safe from harm ?oo.

The press#re were mostly applied from the Terminal Island

group who hadfthe most powerful members in the camp and Mr. Kuro-

miya used to/gather all kinds of information and the rumors which

I used to hear from him from time to time. This actually confused
my mind for/ﬁetermination especially when the atmosphere of the
camp were Y%ry bad.\ We have discussed the matters over and over
and finall; came tolconclusion that we just had to join the Dan

to protect our life from sudden violence which was liable to

happen at any time. We also promised to stick together until the
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ATTORNEY AT LAW
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war end. Unfortunately, I was moved to Santa Fe and Mr. Kuromiya

got to remain in Tule Lake Camp. Therefore, the statement he made

| in his affidavit is not a true statement. Maybe he never expect

this causing me inconvenience since I'm in Japan at present time

and maybe he think such statement wouidn't hurt me as he thinks

I would be in Japan,

Mr. Toshibumi Okumura is also a friend of mine since we were
mo#ed to Tule Lake Camp and was living in the same block #81.
He was a friend of Mr. Kuromiya and later introduced to me him,
I understand that he used to belong to Terminal Island Group while
in Manzanar R. C. and were aware of him at beginning but later I
was told by Mr. Kuromiya that he actually didn't belong to that
group so we became friend each other. When joining the Dan at the

same time, I believe he was the one who gave more of the rumors

' since he knew most of the Terminal Island Group members,

Since I'm in Japan at present time, he probably thought his
statement wiil not cause me inconvenience in later date. I have
nothing to do of him joining the Hokoku Seinen Dan and furthermore,
Hoshi Dan was formally the Terminal Island Issei Group and had all
the control in that Ward.

The reason for application for repatriation on October &5
1945. When the application took place at Santa Fe Camp, I had a
several letter correspond from my mother in Tule Lake and she has
always wanted me to apply for repatriation for simple reason of
rejoining. She has wrote me that unless I apply for repatriation,
she would never get to join in future and that seems to be the
opinion of most the peoples in Tule Lake Camp. Thinking she is
sure to be deported to Japan I would of said I wanted to go to
Japan even if mother and sister didn't because I believed for sure
they'd be sent to Japan and we didn'ﬁ want to be separated.

'I noticed in the statement aboﬁt being loyal to Japan but

this was the idea to protect my mother from being separate since
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‘ learning the wary of living, I only know the American way of living;,

she was an Alien and Japan was her mother country. Her plans
was to return to Japan and see her mother and one of my sister
who were left stranded in Japan during the war.

Some of the wording was made up by the officer in charge at
that time since my mind was all confused and worrying about my
mother only.

I did had a education in Japan but during the childhood. I
have return to the States and continued schooling in Los Angeles

and graduate the High School, James A. Garfield High. As far as

I wasn't loyal to Japan and didn't want to be sent to Japan but I
said such things as my mother didn't want me separated from her
and she insisted on going to Japan and wanted me to go along. 1

actually didn't know what I stated at that time until I saw the

letter of Mr. Collins saying what the Justice Department said I

statede.

Hiromi (George) Hata

Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of

1958.




WAYRE M. COLLIKS
Attorney at Law
Mille Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

October 3, 1958
(VIA AIRLETTIR)

Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike-cho
Showa-Ku, Nagoya

Japan

Dear Mr. Hata:

The Affidavit forms you recently sent to me have been
examined and compared with the records in my office. The forms
appear to me to be in good order. In consequence, I have de-
livered them to the U.S5. Attorney's office for processing through
the Justice Department.

As soon as the Justice Department informs me of its decision
I shall let you know. Because of the fairly large number of
affidavits of other renunciants also being processed it probably
will take several months before a final deeision in your case is
made by the Justice Department.

Therefore, 1 suggest that you wait petiently for word from
the Justice Department which I shall relay to you just as soon
as I receive information as to what decision it makes in your
£22-F 13

If the Justice Department clears {cu by this administrative
method I shall send you & copy of the letter it transmits to the
dtate Department so that you can file the copy of that letter
with the U.S. Consul at the time you make an application to him
for a U.8. passport., If the passport then issues you will be
able to return to the United States as a U.S5. citizen.

if the Justice 0anrtnnnt does not clear you for pa:;{ort
purposes you‘cnovcruho ess, then can apply to a U.Z, Con in

Japan for a "Certificate of Identity" and I will set your trial
for hearing in court and send to you or to the Consul a state-
ment from the Clerk of the Court showing that your individual
hearing will be held within eix months. You then can return to
the U.8. on that certificate for your trial. , il

Very truly yours,




WAYNE M. COLLINS

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

TELEPHONE GARFIELD 15827

Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike-cho
Showa-Ku, Nagoya

Japan

Dear Mr, Hata:
Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit, the
original of which was sent air mail. You should keep

this copy for future reference.
Very truly yours,




WAYNE M. COLLINS

ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

TELEPHONE GARFIELD 1-5827

Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike=-cho
Showa=-Ku, Nagoya

Japan

_Dear Mr. Hata:

1 am returning herewith via air mail the original of
the affidavit which I have prepared for you from your answers
to my guestiomnnaire, I would thank you to read the answers
therein and if you find them to be true, you should take the
original to a U.5, Consul in Japan and there sign and swear to

it. Thereupon you should return it to me promp ;z by air mail
for processing to the Justice Department.

A copy for you to keep for luture reference iz being
sent via regular mail,

If you should make any additions or corrections in the
affidavit, please inform me of the changes in a letter enclosing
the affidavit.

Very truly yours,




(VIA AIRMAIL)

November 19, 1958

Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike-cho
Showa-Ku, Nagoya

Japan

Dear Mr, Hata:

On October 27, 1958, the Department of Justice rejected
your affidavits and denied you administrative clearance because
1t reached a conclusion that your renunciation of U.S. citizen-
ship was not caused by fear, coercion or duress. It states
that the reasons for 1ts refusal to give you administrative clear-
ance are as follows:

“"This subject was born January 23, 1917, in the United States
and resided in Japan from 1927 to 1937, where he received his
education, Pertinent records of the War Relocation Authority
indicate that this subject gave negative answers to questions
27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form. He applied for
repatriation on April 7, 1943 and again on October 1, 1945, 1In
this latter application he indicated that he desired toc be re-
patriated to Japan unconditionally and without qualification for
the reason he was educated in Japan in the Japanese way and
preferred to live in that country and contribute his labor to
'post-war industry of Japan'. He further stated in the form that
he had always been loyal to Japan and had no intention of chang-
ing his loyalty to any other country. He was a member of the
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan and the Hokoku Seinen-dan and served as
an officer of the latter organization. At his renunciation hear-
ing he affirmed that his loyalty was to Japan.

"In an interview on April 16, 1945 with an Immigration and
Naturalizatlion Patrol Inspector, subject stated that he desired
to return to Japan because all of his relatives were there,; he
was the head of the family and further stated that he could not
be loyal to two countries.”

T belicve that by preparing a new affidavit going into more
details that you yet may receive administrative clearance. There-
fore I would thank you to answer the following questions fully
and to the best of your ability and return them to me promptly by
airmail.

© 1. What were your reasons for giving negative answers to
Questions 27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form?




Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata

2. What were your reasons for applying for repatriation
on April 7, 1943, while you were in the Manzanar Relocation
Center?

i 3, What were your reasons for applying for repatriation on
October 1, 1945, in the alien internment camp at Santa Fe, New
Mexico, after the war had ended?

J/h. What were your reasons for stating on your application
of October 1, 1945, that you desired to be repatriated to Japan
unconditionally and without qualification because you were edu-
cated in Japan in the Japanese way and preferred to live in that
country and contribute your labor to "post-war industry of Japan"?

V/5- What were your reasons for further stating on your
application of October 1, 1945, that you had always been loyal to
Japan and had no intention of changing your loyalty to any other
country?

-/ 6. When did you become a member of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-
dan?

\/'7. How long did you remain a member of the Sokuji Kikoku
Hoshi-dan?

\/ 8. What were your reasons for becoming a member of the
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan?

V/ 9. In what activities of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan did
you participate and why?

V 10. Did you hold any office in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan?
If so, what duties did you perform as such officer and what were
your reasons therefor?

\//ll. Did you voluntarily discontinue membership in the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan? If so, give the approximate date and your
reasons for so doing.

¢ 12. Was your membership in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan,
your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office due to
misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization?
If so, explain fully.

© 13. Did you at any time wish to discontinue membership,
activity, or office in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan and were you
prevented from so doing? If so, explain fully.

¢ l4. When did you become a member of the Hokoku Seinen-dan?
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0 15. How long did you remain a member of the Hokoku Seinen-
dan? , '

0 16. What were your reasons for becoming a member of the
Hokoku Seinen-dan?

© 17. 1In what activities of the Hokoku Seinen-dan did you
participate and why?

- Did you hold any office in the Hokoku Seinen-dan?
S0, what duties did you perform as such officer and what were
your reasons therefor?

¢ 19. Did you voluntarily discontinue membership in the Hokoku
Seinen-dan? If S0, give the approximate date and your reasons
for so doing.

0 20. was your membership in the Hokoku Seinen-dan, your
activities therein, or your acceptance of an office due to mis-
understanding of the purpose or nature of the organization? If
so, explain fully.

0 21. Did you at any time wish to discontinue membership,
activity, or office in the Hokoku Seinen-dan and were you prevented
from so doing? If 0, explain fully.

V/éZ. What were your reasons for affirming at your renunciation
hearing that your loyalty was to Japan?

V/(Your renunciation hearing was held at Tule Lake in the early
part of 1945.])

\/'23. At your renunciation hearing held at Tule Lake in the
early part of 1945 did you have an interpreter?:

O 24. Was the interpreter a man or a woman?

€ 25, Was the interpreter a member of the Justice Department
staff? :

D 26, Was the interpreter just one of the internees in camp
who spoke English and Japanese?

C 27. Was the interpreter a Kibei, Issei, Nisei or Caucasian?

© 28. Did you know the name of the interpreter?

° 29. What was the interpreter's name?

o 30. Was the interpreter present at your renunciation hearing
from the start of the hearing to the completion of the hearing?
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0 31l. Was the interpreter called in by the officer because
the officer could not understand you?

b 32. Did you ask for an interpreter at that hearing?

,4 V/33. Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your renunciation hearing?

© 34, At your renunciation hearing held in the early part of
1945 was the hearing officer a man or a woman?

0 35. Was there a stenographer present at your renunciation
hearing held in the early part of 19457

& 36. Was the stenographer present at your renunciation hearing
from the start of the hearing to the completion of the hearing?

¢ 37. Was the stenographer a man or a woman?

V/ 38, What were your reasons for stating in an interview on
April 16, 1945, with an Immigration and Naturalization Patrol
Inspector that you desired to return to Japan because all of your
relatives were there, you were the head of the family and further
that you could not be loyal to two countries?

v/39. At your interview on April 16, 1945, did you have an
interpreter?

¢ 40. Was the interpreter a man or a woman’

° 41, Was the interpreter a member of the Justice Department
staff?

c 4#2. Was the interpreter just one of the internees in camp
who spoke English and Japanese?

- 43, Was the interpreter a Kibei, Issei, Nisei or Caucasian?

o 4h. Did you know the name of the interpreter?

o 45. What was the interpreter's name?

o 46. Was the interpreter present at your interview from the
start of the interview to the completion of the interview?

» 47. Was the interpreter called in by the officer because the
officer could not understand you? '




Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata -5

o L8, Did you ask for an interpreter at that interview?

1 VV49. Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your interview?

50.. At your interview on April 16, 1945, was there &
Stenographer present?

52. Was the stenographer a man or a woman?

Please do not hesitate to give full, true and correct answers

and to mention names. The giving of names will assist me and will
not do any harm either to

a8s you send me full answer
I will prepare an amplified
obtain administrative clearance.

Very truly yours,




(VIA AIRMAIL)

November 19, 1958

Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike-cho
Showa-~Ku, Nagoya

Japan

Dear Mr. Hata:

On October 27, 1958, the Department of Justice rejected
your affidavits and denied you administrative clearance because
it reached a conclusion that your renunciation of U.S. citizen-
ship was not caused by fear, coercion or duress, It states
that the reasons for its refusal to give you administrative clear-
ance are as follows:

"This subjeect was born January 23, 1917, in the United States
and resided in Japan from 1927 to 1937, where he received his
education. Pertinent records of the War Relocation Authority
indicate that this subject gave negative answers to questions
27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form, He applied for
repatriation on April 7, 1943 and again on October 1, 1945, 1In
this latter application he indicated that he desired to be re-
patriated to Japan unconditionally and without qualification for
the reason he was educated in Japan in the Japanese way and
preferred to live in that country and contribute his labor to
tpost-war industry of Japan'., He further stated in the form that
he had always been loyal to Japan and had no intention of chang-
ing his loyalty to any other counfry. He was a member of the
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan and the Hokoku Seinen-dan and served as
an officer of the latter organization. At his renunciation hear-
ing he affirmed that his loyalty was to Japan,

"In an interview on April 16, 1945 with an Immigration and
Naturalization Patrol Inspector, subject stated that he desired
to return to Japan because all of his relatives were there, he
was the head of the family and further stated that he could not
be loyal to two countries."

I believe that by preparing a new affidavit going into more
details that you yet may receive administrative clearance. There-
fore I would thank you to answer the following questions fully
and to the best of your ability and return them to me promptly by
airmail.

l. What were your reassons for giving negative answers to
Questions 27 and 28 of the Army-WRA registration form?
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2, What were your reasons for applying for repatriation
on April 7, 1943, while you were in the Manzanar Relocation
Center?

3. What were your reasons for applying for repatriation on
October 1, 1945, in the alien internment camp at Santa Fe, New
Mexico, after the war had ended?

4. What were your reasons for stating on your application
of October 1, 1945, that you desired to be repatriated to Japan
unconditionally and without qualification because you were edu-
cated in Japan in the Japanese way and preferred to live in that
country and contribute your labor to "post-war industry of Japan"?

5. What were your reasons for further stating on your
application of October 1, 1945, that you had always been loyal to
Japan and had no intention of changing your loyalty to any other
country?

6. When did you become a member of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-
dan?

7. How long did you remain a member of the Sokuji Kikoku
Hoshi-dan?

8. What were your reasons for becoming a member of the
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan?

9. In what activities of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan did
you participate and why?

10. Did you hold any office in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan?
If so, what duties did you perform as such oificer and what were
your reasons therefor?

11. Did you voluntarily discontinue membership in the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan? If so, give the approximate date and your
reasons for so doing.

12. Was your membership in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan,
your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office due to
misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization?
If so, explain fully.

13. Did you at any time wish to discontinue membership,
activity, or office in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan and were you
prevented from so doing? If so, explain fully.

14, When did you become a member of the Hokoku Seinen-dan?
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15. How long did you remain a member of the Hokoku Seinen-
dan?

16, What were your reasons for becoming a member of the
Hokoku Seinen-dan?

17. In what activities of the Hokoku Seinen-dan did you
participate and why?

18. Did you hold any office in the Hokoku Seinen-dan? If
so, what duties did you perform as such officer and what were
your reasons therefor?

19. Did you voluntarily discontinue membership in the Hokoku
Seinen-dan? If so, give the approximate date and your reasons
for so doing.

20. Was your membership in the Hokoku Seinen-dan, your
activities therein, or your acceptance of an office due to mis-
understanding of the purpose or nature of the organization? If
S0, explain fully.

21. Did you at any time wish to discontinue membership,
activity, or office in the Hokoku Seinen-dan and were you prevented
from so doing? If so, explain fully.

22. What were your reasons for affirming at your renunciation
hearing that your loyalty was to Japan?

(Your renuncistion hearing was held at Tule Leke in the early
part of 1945.)

23. At your renunciation hearing held at Tule Lake in the
early part of 1945 did you have an interpreter?

24. Was the interpreter a man or a woman?

25. Was the interpreter a member of the Justice Department
staff?

26. Was the interpreter just one of the internees in camp
who spoke English and Japanese?

27. Was the interpreter a Kibei, Issei, Nisei or Caucasian?

28. Did you know the name of the interpreter?

29, What was the interpreter's name?

30. Was the interpreter present at your renunciation hearing
from the start of the hearing to the completion of the hearing?
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31. Was the interpreter called in by the officer because
the officer could not understand you?

32, Did you ask for an interpreter at that hearing?

33. Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your renunciation hearing?

34 At your renunciation hearing held in the early part of
1945 was the hearing officer a man or a woman?

35. Was there a stenographer present at your renunciation
hearing held in the early part of 19457

36. Was the stenographer present at your renunciation hearing
from the start of the hearing to the completion of the hearing?

37. Was the stenographer a man or a woman?

38. What were your reasons for stating in an interview on
April 16, 1945, with an Immigration and Naturalization Patrol
Inspector that you desired to return to Japan because all of your
relatives were there, you were the head of the family and further
that you could not be loyal to two countries?

39. At your interview on April 16, 1945, did you have an
interpreter?

40, Was the interpreter a man or a woman®

41. Was the interpreter a member of the Justice Department
staff?

42, Was the interpreter just one of the internees in camp
who spoke English and Japanese?

43, Was the interpreter a Kibei, Issei, Nisei or Caucasian?

4h. Did you know the name of the interpreter?

45, What was the interpreter's name?

46, Was the interpreter present at your interview from the
start of the interview to the completion of the interview?

47. Was the interpreter called in by the officer because the
officer could not understand you?
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48. Did you ask for an interpreter at that interview?

49. Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your interview?

50. At your interview on April 16, 1945, was there a
stenographer present?

51. Was the stenographer present at your interview from the
start of the interview to the completion of the interview?

52. Was the stenographer a man or a woman?

Please do not hesitate to give full, true and correct answers
and to mention names. The giving of names will assist me and will
not de any harm either to you or the persons you name. AS soon
as you send me full answers and explanations to the above questions,
I will prepare an amplified affidavit which may enable you to
obtain administrative clearance.

{

Very truly yours,




March 23, 1959

(VIA AIRMAIL)
Mr, Hiromi (George) Hata
No. 3-1, Amaike-cho
Showa-Ku, Nagoya
Japan

Dear Mr, Hata:

I have previously notified you that it will be necessary for
me to have certain additional information before I will be able
to prepare a new affidavit on your behalf. Therefore, I would
thank you to answer the following questions fully and to the best
of your ability and return them to me promptly by airmall:

1. What were your reasons for applying for repatriation i
on April 7, 1943, while you were in the Manzanar Relocation Center?

2., What were your reasons for applying for repatriation on
October 1, 1945, in the alien internment camp at Santa Fe, New
Mexico, after the war had ended?

3, What were your reasons for stating on your application of
October 1, 1945, that you desired to be repatriated to Japan un-
conditionally and without qualification because you were educated
in Japan in the Japanese way and preferred to live in that country
and contribute your labor to "post-war industry of Japan"?

4, what were your reasons for further stating on your
application of October 1, 1945, that you had always been loyal to
Japan and had no intention of changing your loyalty to any other
country?

5, When did you become a member of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi~

dan?

6, How long did you remain a member of the Sokuji Kikoku
Hoshi-dan?

7. What were your reasons for becoming a member of the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan?

8. In what activities of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan did you
“\tparticipate and why? ;

19, Didwyoa hold any-office in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan?
If so, what duties did you perform as such officer and what were
your reasons therefor?
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10. Did you voluntarily discontinue membership in the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan? 1If so, give the approximate date and your
reasons for so doing.

1l. What were your reasons for affirming at your renunciation
hearing that your loyalty was to Japan?

12, (Your renunciation hearing was held at Tule Lake in the
early part of 1985.) At your renunciation hearing held at Tule
Lake in the early part of 1945 did you have an interpreter?

13. Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your renunciation hearing?

14, what were your reasons for stating in an interview on
April 16, 1945, with an Immigration and Naturalization Patrol
Inspector that you desired to return to Japan because all of your
relatives were there, you were the head of the family and further,
that you could not be loyal to two countries?

15. At your interview on April 16, 1945, did you have an
interpreter?

16. Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your interview?

Please .do not hesitate to glve full, true and correct answers
and to mention names. The giving of names will assist me and will
not do any harm either to you or the persons you name. As soon
as you send me full answers and explanations to the above questions,
I will prepare an amplified affidavit which may enable you to '
obtain administrative clearance.

Very truly yours,

WMC:ss
cc: Mr, Toraichi Kono




March 23, 1959

(VIA AIRMAIL)
Mr. Hiromi (George) Hata
NO. 3-1’ Amike-cho
Showa-Ku, Nagoya
Japan

Dear Mr, Hata:

I have previously notified you that it will be necessary for
me to have certain additional information before I will be able
to prepare a new affidavit on your behalf. Therefore, I would
thank you to answer the following questions fully and to the best
of your ability and return them to me promptly by alrmall:

1., What were your reasons for applying for repatriation
on April 7, 1943, while you were in the Manzanar Relocation Center?

2. What were your reasons for applying for repatriation on
October 1, 1945, in the alien internment camp at Santa Fe, New
Mexico, after the war had ended?

3., What were your reasons for stating on your application of
October 1, 1945, that you desired to be repatriated to Japan un-
conditionally and without qualification because you were educated
in Japan in the Japanese way and preferred to live in that country
and contribute your labor to "post-war industry of Japan"?

4, What were your reasons for further stating on your
application of October 1, 1945, that you had always been loyal to
‘Japan and had no intention of changing your loyalty to any other
country? ~

5. When did you become a member of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-

dan?

6. How long did you remain a member of the Sokuji Kikoku
Hoshi-dan?

T. What were your reasons for becoming a member of the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan?

8. In what activities of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan did you
participate and why?

‘9, Didi/yot hold any office in the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-dan?
If so, what duties did you perform as such officer and what were
your reasons therefor?
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10. Did you voluntarily discontinue membership in the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshi-dan? If so, give the approximate date and your
reasons for so doing.

11. What were your reasons for affirming at your renunciation
hearing that your loyalty was to Japan?

12, (Your renunciation hearing was held at Tule Lake in the
early part of 1985.) At your renunciation hearing held at Tule
Lake in the early part of 1945 did you have an interpreter?

13, Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your renunciation hearing?

14, what were your reasons for stating in an interview on
April 16 1645, with an Immigration and Naturalization Patrol
Inspector that you desired to return to Japan because all of your
relatives were there, you were the head of the family and further,
that you could not be loyal to two countries?

15, At your interview on April 16, 1945, did you have an
interpreter?

16, Did you actually need the services of an interpreter at
your interview?

Please do not hesitate to give full, true and correct answers
and to mention names. The giving of names will assist me and will
not do any harm either to you or the persons you name, As soon
as you send me full answers and explanations to the above questions,
I will prepare an amplified affidavit which may enable you to
obtain administrative clearance,

Very truly yours,

WMC:s8s :
ec: Mr, Toraichi Kono




WAYNE M. COLLINS
Mills Tower,220 Bush Street April 16 1959
San Francisco 4, California

Dear Sir;

Roferenco is mede to your letter dated March 23, 1959 regarding
to the additional information. Some of the question which T do not
remember exactly, but will try to explain fully with best of my kmow-

I was convinced by the rumour of the camp that I should apply fa
repatriation in order to stay safe in camp and at the time, I have lo:st
most of my interest by relocation program.

My mother whom was Isei has made her mind that she will be sent
back to Japan eventually and was convinced to take action same as she did.
T was afraid that unless I apply for repatriation, I will be sent out
from the camp to other strange places.( Discrimination of racial caused
to relocation program) ;

Question-j-g, - :
e Since my mother who always insisted me to go back to Japan ever
since after relocated to Manzanar Camp. We were relocated to Tule

Lake Camp and later was seperated from my mother and sent to Santafe
Camp. After the war ended, my mother has wrote to me that if I do
apply T will be able to re-join with her and later change in order to
stay in the States. I actually didn't have time to write to her to
‘change her mind and the letter correspondent which I was getting from

her was mostly cut out and couldn't make sence of what was the resl story.

Since I had already applied for repatriation, I ment to say that
in case if T was to be sent to Japan, I could get along their sine I
had attend the school during chillhood. I also was convinced that
the racial discrimination has caused me to act same as my mother's idea.
Re-joining was the most important thing at that time because everything
I had was left with my mother at Tule Lake Camp.

I was told that in case T was sent back to Japan, T should state
to be loyal to Japan, otherwise, I would be ponish by the Japanese Gown't.
Santa Fe Camp was mostly occupied by Isei peoples and they the one was
speading the rumors that evryone here will be sent back to J apan regardless
of your desire of remaining in the States.

i Question # 5. i i

I do not remember of becoming a member of the Skuji Kikoku Hoshidan.
I was force to become a member to the Hokoku Seinen Dan.

Question # 6,

I do not rember exactly but beleive to be in dan for about 3 weeks.
(Hokoku Seinen Dan)

Question # 7.

I was insisted from the member of Terminal Island groups, Mr. Hinoki

and their gangs. I also was convinced that the dan members was protected
from the suddent violence.




Question # 8.
None

Question #9.

None

Question # 10.
Automatically discontinued after beihg relocated to Santa Fe Camp.
 Before being relocated, I try to drop out from dan but Mr. Shikhido, Isei,
said T should not try to drop out, that I would be a dog and might be treaten
same as Tosh Terazawa(cut by Mr. Shimada.)

Question # 11,

Unless I didn't , the camp authority was going to force us out to the
place where there were no assurance and protection. My mother has told me
to give any kind of answer to stay safe in the camp together.

Question # 12.
I do not remeber whether there were an interpreter or not but didn't
require such a people.

Question # 13,
T @id not require an interpeter.

Question # 14.

Since my mother has alw wanted to return to Japan and wanted me to
stay together, r convincedto go back to Japan together; re-join together;
an ar as the families is concerned, I was the only son and it was my res-
ponsibility to look after my mother at that time.

I was also told that in case I was sent back to Japan regardless of my
will, the reports will be sent to Japanese Government shead of arrival there
and T will be punished. This was my mother!'s idea where she has herself was
told by some other Isei peoples,

Question # 15.

T did not mmwximtmxprmisr require an interpreter but the interpreter
whom was Isei bhmd confused me to answer some of the questions and the wording.
another word, he has tried to answer the question himself by asking few words
in Japanese,

Question # 16,

I didn't actually needed but he actually acted as he was an interview-
ing officer and made me kind of mad as I could recall of some of the attitude
of that man.

Please mhake this as an informations and your assistance for futher info.
will be glad to answer whenever necessary,
Also thanks for your help to my sister Yayoi Hata who has left Japan by

boat April 4, 1959.

-1 Anaike-cho
Sho a-ku, Nageya, Japan

Very Truly Yours,




